
 

 

 

 

O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  

L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  

w w w . l i n c o l n s h i r e i l . g o v  

 

 AGENDA 
 REGULAR ZONING BOARD MEETING 

Public Meeting Room, Village Hall 
Thursday, April 18, 2019 

  7:00 p.m. 
 

Reasonable accommodations or auxiliary aids will be provided to enable persons with disabilities to 
effectively participate in any public meetings.  Please contact the Village Administrative Office 
(847.883.8600) 48 hours in advance if you need any special services or accommodations. 

 
CALL TO ORDER 
        
1.0 ROLL CALL 
             
2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

2.1 Approval of the Minutes of the Regular Zoning Board Meeting Held on January 8, 
2019 

           
3.0 GENERAL BUSINESS 
 
  3.1  A Public Hearing regarding a Rezoning of 2 Hotz Road Property from R1 Single-

Family Residential to E Small Scale Office for Lincolnshire Animal Hospital, 420 
Half Day Road and 2 Hotz Road (Lincolnshire Animal Hospital)  

 
3.2   A Public Hearing regarding a Major Special Use Amendment to Lincolnshire 

Animal Hospital Special Use Permit Granted by Ordinance #09-3083-06 for the 
Property at 420 Half Day Road to Add 2 Hotz Road Property to 420 Half Day Road 
Property Governed by Special Use and to Allow Parking Expansion onto 2 Hotz 
Road Property for Animal Hospital Operations for Lincolnshire Animal Hospital, 
420 Half Day Road and 2 Hotz Road (Lincolnshire Animal Hospital) 

 
3.3   A Public Hearing regarding a Variation from Code Section 6-11-2(B)(4) to Locate 

Parking Spaces in a Front and Corner Side Yard for Lincolnshire Animal Hospital, 
420 Half Day Road and 2 Hotz Road (Lincolnshire Animal Hospital) 

 
3.4   A Public Hearing regarding a Variation from Code Section 6-15-3(A)(1)(a)(i) to 

Locate a Yard Fence in a Required Corner Side Yard Setback  for Lincolnshire 
Animal Hospital, 420 Half Day Road and 2 Hotz Road (Lincolnshire Animal 
Hospital) 

  
4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
5.0 NEW BUSINESS     
6.0 CITIZEN COMMENTS 

7.0 ADJOURNMENT 
The Zoning Board will not proceed past 10:30 p.m. unless a motion is made and approved by a majority of 
the Zoning Board members to extend the meeting one-half hour to 11:00 p.m. Any agenda items or other 
business that are not addressed within this time frame will be continued to the next regularly scheduled 
Zoning Board Meeting.  



 

 

 

 

O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  

L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  

w w w . l i n c o l n s h i r e i l . g o v  

V:\Shared_Files\Advisory_Boards\ZONING BOARD\MINUTES\2019\2018_01_08_ZB_Minutes_Unapproved.doc 

 
UNAPPROVED  Minutes of the REGULAR MEETING OF THE ZONING BOARD held on 

Tuesday, January 8, 2019 in the Public Meeting Room in the Village Hall, 
One Olde Half Day Road, Lincolnshire, IL 

 
PRESENT: Chair Bichkoff and Members Hashemi, Udoni, Kalina, and Hersh 
 
STAFF PRESENT: Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/Community & Economic 

Development Director 
Tonya Zozulya, Planning and Development Manager 

 
ABSENT:  Trustee Liaison McDonough. 
 
CALL TO ORDER: Chair Bichkoff called the meeting to order at 7:00 P.M. 
 
1.0 ROLL CALL 

The roll was called by Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/Community and 
Economic Development Director (AVM/CED); Chair Bichkoff declared a quorum to 
be present.  
 

2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
        

2.1 Approval of the Minutes of the Regular Zoning Board Meeting Held on November 
13, 2018. 
 

Chair Bickhoff noted scrivener’s errors and provided those to staff.  
 

Member Udoni moved and Member Hersh seconded the motion to approve the 
minutes as noted and amended by Chair Bichkoff. Motion passed by voice vote. 
  

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 
 

3.1  Consideration of Text Amendments Regarding Single-Family Residential Bulk 
Regulations in Title 6, Chapters 5A (R1, R2 and R3 Single-Family Residence 
Districts) and 5B (R2A Single-Family Residence District) of the Lincolnshire 
Village Code (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 
AVM/CED Gilbertson provided background and an overview of this agenda 
item, noting the most recent deliberation by the Zoning Board was September 
2018. At that meeting, it was the consensus of the Zoning Board, having taken 
into consideration current Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R.) regulations, to recommend 
against additional text amendments to the Zoning Code for bulk regulations in 
residential districts; however, a formal motion from the Zoning Board to make a 
non-recommendation to the Village Board was not made.  
 
Member Hashemi, noting the presence of an audience, requested staff to 
provide additional background on the item. AVM/CED Gilbertson provided 
history on bulk regulations, how the issue came to the Village Board’s attention 
as well as how they saw a need to address bulk regulations through zoning and 
architectural requirements. He further described the Zoning Board’s concerns of 



Zoning Board Meeting 01/08/19 
Page 2  

 

2 
 

the analysis presented at the February 2018 public hearing and the possible 
consequences of reducing FAR requirements, noting the reduction in F.A.R may 
preclude owners of older, smaller homes from constructing future additions. 
Member Kalina and Chair Bichkoff further articulated the Zoning Board’s prior 
concern, stating F.A.R. revisions were not necessary and unsubstantiated, 
adding the consensus of the Zoning Board was current regulations are sufficient.  
 
Member Hashemi stated she has had conversations with residents in which they 
indicated the decision to propose changes to the current regulations are not 
based on fact. She added concerns about perceived impacts on property values.  
 
Tonya Zozulya, Planning and Development Manager (PDM) requested the 
Zoning Board provide details of their recommendation and outline their reasoning 
when they make their formal motion. 

 
Member Hashemi drew attention to the number of meetings dedicated to zoning 
bulk regulations, staff time, and resources dedicated to this. She said the Village 
would have been better served looking for new business to come to the Village. 
 
Member Hersh asked if there were other reasons for the Village Board’s 
concerns. AVM/CED Gilbertson stated the Village Board also had concerns 
regarding teardowns in older areas of town and preservation of “neighborhood 
character.” 
 
Chair Bichkoff, noting the presence of an audience, elected to take Citizen 
Comments on this agenda item rather than wait until the end of the meeting.  
 
Darek Zarnovski of 72 Cumberland stated he has lived in his home for 17 years. 
He expressed concern this was the first time he was aware of the proposed 
changes and noted the lack of notification to residents in Lincolnshire regarding 
these discussions. As an architect, he noted current design trends are not for 
larger homes, as they are expensive to build.  
 
There was lengthy discussion amongst the Zoning Board that homes in the R3 
District would be most impacted by the proposed F.A.R., making many existing 
homes non-compliant and not allowing for future additions. PDM Zozulya, in 
response to a question from Mr. Zarnovski, said there are many regulations 
beyond F.A.R. in the residential zoning code that currently control for bulk 
regulations. Members of the Zoning Board reaffirmed their position that current 
regulations are sufficient and there was no need to make the code more 
restrictive. 
 
Member Udoni moved, seconded by Member Hersh, having conducted and 
concluded a Public Hearing on February 13, 2018 and considered the proposed 
amendments on September 12 and January 8, 2019, to approve and recommend 
amendments to the Village Code regarding bulk regulations in Title 6, Chapters 
5A and 5B. 
 
Roll Call Vote: Ayes - None 

Nayes - Chair Bichkoff, Members Kalina, Udoni, Hersh and 
Hashemi.  
Motion Failed. 



Zoning Board Meeting 01/08/19 
Page 3  

 

3 
 

 
Chair Bichkoff reaffirmed the Zoning Board’s position based on consideration of 
the matter over several meetings and inability to find an argument in favor of the 
proposed amendments and noted the following concerns: 
 

 Proposed regulations would disproportionally affect the R3 district. 

 Current regulations in place are sufficient to address bulk. 
 
3.2 Approval of 2019 Zoning Board Calendar and Meeting Schedule (Village of 

Lincolnshire)  
 
 AVM/CED Gilbertson stated the Illinois Open Meetings Act requires advisory 

boards to approve their meeting schedule and calendar prior to or at the first 
meeting of the year. AVM/CED Gilbertson reviewed the 2019 dates for the 
Zoning Board meeting schedule. 

  
 Member Udoni moved and Member Kalina seconded approval of the 2019 

Zoning Board meeting dates as prepared by staff.  The Motion passed 
unanimously by voice vote.  

 
4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None. 

 
5.0 NEW BUSINESS – None. 
 
6.0 CITIZENS COMMENTS 

 
Sandra Saltiel, 26 Regent Lane, inquired about the 325 Marriot Drive building under 
construction, asking how the Village allowed the construction of a warehouse so close to 
Route 22. Member Hashemi stated the Zoning Board and Village Board approved a 
rezoning of this property, adding the office vacancy rate in the area was not conducive 
for another office building. She stated the Zoning Board, Architectural Review Board, 
and Village Board made sure that additional improvements to the building exterior and 
landscape were included to enhance the site. Chair Bichkoff, in response to Sandra 
Saltiel’s comments about the appearance of the building, noted that this will be a 
corporate headquarters and having seen the renderings, it will look much different. He 
further noted this site has been on the market for over 30 years, and the Village believed 
this would be a productive use for the site. AVM/CED Gilbertson provided background 
on the review of the building and landscape design, including the requirement to add a 
landscape berm along the north elevation, screening of the docks along the east 
elevation, and a significant investment in the landscape plan. Staff stated they would 
provide residents with additional information via email. 
 
Scott Mackenzie, 23 Londonderry Lane, inquired about the property referred to as the 
TSJ/Top Golf project, asking what happened to the Top Golf. Chair Bichkoff stated this 
proposal was never referred to the Zoning Board as it is under the purview of the Village 
Board, but that the Top Golf proposal was removed from the project. Scott Mackenzie 
said it would have been a good source of tax revenue for the Village. AVM/CED 
Gilbertson said there was much feedback from the community about Top Golf’s plan, 
with residents indicating concerns for traffic and lighting. He added the Village Board 
retains review authority over the use of the property as it is zoned B-2 Planned Unit 
Development, with the only known user of the property at this time being The St. James. 



Zoning Board Meeting 01/08/19 
Page 4  

 

4 
 

 
Jill Raizin, 8 Farrington Circle, inquired about the repaving schedule for Farrington 
Circle. AVM/CED Gilbertson stated the Village uses a pavement rating system to 
evaluate road conditions to prioritize repaving and replacement. PDM Zozulya said she 
would provide Ms. Raizin with contact information for Public Works staff. 
 

7.0 ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, Chair Bichkoff requested a motion to adjourn. 
 
Member Kalina moved, and Member Udoni seconded the motion to adjourn. 
 
Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:53 p.m. 
 

 
Minutes submitted by Carol Lustig, Administrative Assistant, Community & Economic 
Development Department 



Agenda Item 

ZB 3.1 - 3.4 

 REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Zoning Board   
April 18, 2019 

Subject: Rezoning of 2 Hotz Road & Major Special Use Amendment with 
Variations for Lincolnshire Animal Hospital – 420 Half Day Road 

Action Requested: 3.1 A Public Hearing regarding a Rezoning of 2 Hotz Road 
Property from R1 Single-Family Residential to E Small Scale 
Office  

3.2  A Public Hearing regarding a Major Special Use Amendment 
to Lincolnshire Animal Hospital Special Use Permit Granted 
by Ordinance #09-3083-06 for the Property at 420 Half Day 
Road to Add 2 Hotz Road Property to 420 Half Day Road 
Property Governed by Special Use and to Allow Parking 
Expansion onto 2 Hotz Road Property for Animal Hospital 
Operations  

3.3  A Public Hearing regarding a Variation from Code Section 6-
11-2(B)(4) to Locate Parking Spaces in a Front and Corner
Side Yard

3.4  A Public Hearing regarding a Variation from Code Section 6-
15-3(A)(1)(a)(i) to Locate a Yard Fence in a Required Corner
Side Yard Setback

Petitioner: Lincolnshire Animal Hospital 

Originated By/Contact: Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager 

Advisory Board Review: Zoning Board & Architectural Review Board 

Background: 

 Lincolnshire Animal Hospital
(hospital), the petitioner and 2 Hotz
contract purchaser, seeks the
following (see attached Documents
2 and 3):

o A Rezoning of the 2 Hotz Road
property from R1 Single-Family
Residence to E Small Scale
Office.

o A Major Special Use amendment
to the Lincolnshire Animal
Hospital Special Use Permit
granted by Ordinance No. 09-
3083-06 for the property at 420

Figure 1: Location Map 



Agenda Item 

ZB 3.1 - 3.4 

Half Day Road to allow parking expansion onto the 2 Hotz Road property for Animal 
Hospital operations.  

o A variation from Code Section 6-11-2(B)(4) to locate parking spaces in front and corner
side yards.

o A variation from Code Section 6-15-3(A)(1)(a)(i) to locate a yard fence in a required corner
side yard setback.

 The 2 Hotz Road property is 37,000-square-feet and is located at the northeast corner of
Illinois Route 22 (Half Day Road) and Hotz Road (see Figure 1 above and Document 1). The
property was annexed into the Village in 1995 by Ordinance #95-1409-39 with an R1 Single-
Family zoning (the default zoning designation in the Village for newly annexed properties).
The site has been the subject of several prior development proposals, including townhome,
single-family home, and small-scale office developments. None of the proposals reached the
formal approval stage. Development of the site has been hampered by wetland and poor
drainage conditions. The current zoning of the property would only allow one single-family
home to be built, and the lot is considered legally nonconforming in the R1 District as it is
smaller than the minimum required size of 80,000 square feet.

 The adjacent hospital property (420 Half Day Road) was developed as an animal clinic in
1974 in unincorporated Lake County. In 1995, the property was involuntarily annexed into
Lincolnshire and zoned R1 Single-Family Residential. In 1996, the property owner petitioned
for and was granted Eb Office District zoning, along with a Special Use permit for the animal
clinic by Ordinance #96-1434-18 (Note: the Eb zoning became E Small Scale office in 2014
when the Ea and Eb Office subdistricts were combined into a single E Small Scale Office
District). In 2005, the hospital applied for a Special Use Amendment to allow for the building
and parking lot expansion but did not pursue the project after obtaining a Village Board
referral. In 2008, the hospital submitted a new Special Use amendment request for a
building/parking addition as well as construction of an outdoor dog run and received approvals
in 2009 by Ordinance #09-3083-06 (see attached Document 4).

 The Village Board (Board) held a Preliminary Evaluation regarding the request at its March
11, 2019 Committee of the Whole meeting. The Board expressed support for the request and
referred it to the Zoning Board for public hearings and recommendation on the above-
referenced zoning requests, as well as the Architectural Review Board (ARB) for design
review and recommendation (note: at the time of the Preliminary Evaluation, the parking and
fence variations were not known; therefore, the Village Board did not comment on them). The
ARB review is scheduled for April 23, 2019.

 A newspaper notice of the Zoning Board Public Hearing was published in the April 3, 2019
Daily Herald. Additionally, the petitioner provided a certified notice to property owners within
a 250’ radius of the 2 Hotz and 420 Half Day properties and submitted a notarized Notification
Affidavit. The petitioner also provided courtesy notices to the Westgate and Beaconsfield
Homeowners Association (HOA) Presidents.

 Staff has received a verbal statement from the Westgate HOA President expressing support
for the parking expansion. No other public comments have been received to date since the



Agenda Item 

ZB 3.1 - 3.4 

public hearing notice publication. Property owners will have the opportunity to attend the April 
18th public hearing and provide testimony.  

 The 2 Hotz Road rezoning request is supported by current owner Ernest J. Frey.

 Attached are draft ordinances prepared by the Village Attorney (see Document 7).

Item 3.1 - A Public Hearing regarding a Rezoning of 2 Hotz Road Property from R1 Single-
Family Residential to E Small Scale Office  

 The hospital property is zoned E Small Scale Office and the 2 Hotz property is zoned R1
Single-Family Residential. The 2 Hotz property needs to be rezoned to E Small Scale Office
for it to be incorporated into the hospital operations. The intent of the Zoning Code for the E
Small Scale Office District is as follows: “The E District is intended to provide low density office
and service uses to serve as transitional areas between residential areas and more intense
commercial sectors of Lincolnshire. This district is characterized by lands developed in tranquil
residential-like settings as opposed to more intensely developed commercial centers.”

Adjacent uses and zoning classifications include:
o To the north: single-family home (zoned R1 Single-Family Residential)
o To the south: telephone distribution facility (zoned O/Id Office Industrial)
o To the east: Lincolnshire Animal Hospital (zoned E Small Scale Office)
o To the west: Westgate subdivision (zoned R3 Single-Family Residential with a Planned

Unit Development designation)

 The 2 Hotz Road lot size and dimensions will comply with E Small Scale Office zoning district
requirements (see attached Document 5). Additionally, the Floor Area Ratio (FAR) and
parking counts for the combined property will also comply.

 The Comprehensive Plan (Plan) recommends a professional office land use development for
this property, which is consistent with the Animal Hospital proposal (see attached Document
6). The Plan also encourages tree preservation along the north part of the property for
screening.

 The petitioner submitted the attached responses to the required Rezoning Findings of Fact
Standards. The Zoning Board must review the responses and find that each standard has
been satisfactorily addressed in order to provide a favorable recommendation to the Village
Board.

Item 3.2 - A Public Hearing regarding a Major Special Use Amendment to Lincolnshire 
Animal Hospital Special Use Permit Granted by Ordinance #09-3083-06 for the Property at 
420 Half Day Road to Add 2 Hotz Road Property to 420 Half Day Road  Property Governed 
by Special Use and to Allow Parking Expansion onto 2 Hotz Road Property for Animal 
Hospital Operations  

 The proposed parking expansion requires a Major Amendment to the Animal Hospital Special
Use Ordinance # 09-3083-06 to add the 2 Hotz property to the 420 Half Day Road property
Special Use and due to the increased intensity of the Animal Hospital operations from



Agenda Item 

ZB 3.1 - 3.4 

construction of 25 additional spaces for hospital clients and staff per Section 6-14-11. The 
hospital is not proposing any other changes to the Special Use permit and will continue to meet 
previously approved conditions.  

 The hospital has 23 employees, with no more than 16 on-site at any given time. They are
proposing to eliminate boarding operations and reconfigure the floor space for new treatment
areas and two additional exam rooms (increasing the exam room count from five to seven).

 There are currently 21 parking spaces on the hospital property, and the parking expansion will
result in an additional 25 spaces, for a total of 46 spaces (some of the existing spaces will be
removed to make room for the access drive). The number of proposed spaces exceeds the
code requirement of 1 space per employee and 2 spaces per exam room (a total of 30 spaces).
The hours of operation will remain the same (8 am - 6 pm Monday through Friday and 8 am -
12 pm on Saturday. The hospital will remain closed on Sunday).

 The hospital proposes to install 12 36”-tall bollard lights and 2 15’-tall light poles with
downward-pointing fixtures, which will comply with the Code’s outdoor lighting requirements
and will minimize impacts on adjacent properties to the north and west. One of the two new
light poles will replace an existing 25’ tall wooden light pole on the 420 Half Day Road property.

 The petitioner will not be required to consolidate the 2 Hotz and 420 Half Day properties into
one single property through the subdivision process because parking is permitted to be on a
separate lot, provided it is accessory to the primary use. However, the two lots will be treated
as one property for zoning purposes (including setbacks).

 The parking lot will be placed horizontally in the middle portion of the lot with adjacent trees left
undisturbed and impacting only a small portion of the wetlands (0.14 acres out of 0.4 acres of
on-site wetlands). The proposed placement requires a variation (see Item 3.3 below for details).
The existing vegetation will screen the parking from Half Day Road. Two-way access is
proposed via a new curb cut off Hotz Road. Cross access is also provided to connect to the
existing hospital parking lot. No new access will be created off Route 22 (Half Day Road). The
nearest Westgate of Lincolnshire Subdivision homes to the west will be approximately 130’
from the proposed lot and the 6 Hotz Road home to the north-125.’

 The petitioner is proposing an 8’-tall solid decorative cedar fence along the north property line
of 2 Hotz Road and along a portion of the 420 Half Day property to screen parking lot impacts
from the 6 Hotz property to the north. The 6 Hotz resident requested a fence in that location.
The placement of the new fence in the northwest corner of 2 Hotz requires a variation (see
Item 3.4 below for details). The new fence is permitted at the proposed height and opacity as
it is designed to separate a residential property to the north (6 Hotz Road) from the proposed
parking lot which is considered an incompatible use by Village code. The 420 Hotz property is
currently improved with an 8’ tall solid fence along the north property line and a portion of the
west property line which was installed in 2009 with the previous Special Use amendment. The
petitioner intends to replace the existing fence in conjunction with the new fence and the entire
fence will have the same specifications and design.



Agenda Item 

ZB 3.1 - 3.4 

 The petitioner is proposing landscaping along the entire length of the fence. Additional
landscaping is proposed in parking islands and along Hotz Road. The landscape, lighting, and
fence design plans will be reviewed by the ARB.

 The petitioner has contacted the adjacent single-family home owners to the north/west as well
as the Westgate Subdivision to the west and the Beaconsfield Subdivision to the east to
discuss their proposal, given that the 2009 Special use amendment generated a number of
concerns from adjacent residents. The preliminary comments received are summarized in the
attached petitioner’s cover letter (see Document 2). The neighbors are generally supportive
of the parking expansion; however, they also request consideration of enhanced privacy
through the appropriate placement of the Hotz Road curb cut, fencing, and landscaping. The
Beaconsfield Homeowners Association is in the process of reviewing the plans and has not
provided feedback to date.

 No on-site detention is proposed with the addition of the parking lot. The petitioner contacted
the Lake County Stormwater Management Commission (SMC) regarding on-site detention
and wetland delineation and received preliminary approvals. A formal SMC permit will be
required prior to final Village Board review/approvals.

 The petitioner submitted the attached responses to the required Special Use Findings of Fact
Standards. The Zoning Board must review the responses and find that each standard has
been satisfactorily addressed in order to provide a favorable recommendation to the Village
Board.

 Per Code Section 6-14-11(G), any Special Use Permit becomes null and void if the
improvements for which the Permit was granted are not substantially under way within three
years of Village approvals.

Item 3.3 - A Public Hearing regarding a Variation from Code Section 6-11-2(B)(4) to Locate 
Parking Spaces in a Front and Corner Side Yard 

 Given the 2 Hotz and 420 Half Day lots are treated as one single zoning lot, the placement of
the proposed parking spaces on 2 Hotz Road property is evaluated based on E Small Scale
Office zoning parameters for both lots outlined in Chapter 11, Off-Street Parking & Loading
(see attached Document 5). No parking is permitted in a front yard (defined by Code as an
area between the adjacent street and the front of the building) and in a corner side yard
(defined by Code as an area between the adjacent street and the side of the building). Since
the existing Animal Hospital building is already in place with deep setbacks from Half Day
Road (front yard) and from Hotz Road (corner side yard), there is no opportunity to reconfigure
the proposed parking design on 2 Hotz to comply with Code Section 6-11-2(B)(4).

 The petitioner submitted the attached responses to the required Variation Findings of Fact
Standards. The Zoning Board must review the responses and find that each standard has
been satisfactorily addressed in order to provide a favorable recommendation to the Village
Board.

 Per Code Section 6-14-9(E), any variation becomes null and void if the improvements for
which the variation was granted are not substantially under way within one year of Village



Agenda Item 

ZB 3.1 - 3.4 

approvals, unless a one-time extension is granted by the Village Board without an additional 
public hearing.     

Item 3.4 - A Public Hearing regarding a Variation from Code Section 6-15-3(A)(1)(a)(i) to 
Locate a Yard Fence in a Required Corner Side Yard Setback   

 Yard fences are not allowed in required corner side yard setback per Code Section 6-15-
3(A)(1)(a)(i). The required corner side yard setback in the E Small Scale Office District is 35’.
If the code requirement is followed, the proposed fence along the 2 Hotz north property line
would not be able to be placed within the first 35’ feet from Hotz Road, thereby reducing
screening and privacy for the affected 6 Hotz homeowner.

 The petitioner submitted the attached responses to the required Variation Findings of Fact
Standards. The Zoning Board must review the responses and find that each standard has
been satisfactorily addressed in order to provide a favorable recommendation to the Village
Board.

Review & Approval Process: 

1. Preliminary Evaluation at the Village Board.
2. The Zoning Board public hearing on the zoning requests.
3. The Architectural Review Board will review the parking proposal regarding site layout,

parking lot design, lighting, tree removal/landscape screening, and fencing.

4. The Village Board will consider the Zoning Board’s and Architectural Review Board’s
recommendations and make the final determination.

Item 3.1 Motion (Rezoning): 
Having made findings based on facts covered in a Public Hearing on April 18, 2019, the Zoning 
Board recommends approval to the Village Board of a rezoning of the 2 Hotz Road property from 
R1 Single-Family Residential to E Small Scale Office, as presented in the petitioner’s presentation 
packet and based on the Rezoning Findings of Fact, dated April 2, 2019, and further subject to… 

{Insert any additional conditions or modification desired by the Zoning Board} 

Item 3.2 Motion (Major Special Use Amendment): 
Having made findings based on facts covered in a Public Hearing on April 18, 2019, the Zoning 
Board recommends approval to the Village Board of a Special Use amendment to the Lincolnshire 
Animal Hospital Special Use Permit granted by Ordinance #09-3083-06 for the property at 420 
Half Day Road to add the 2 Hotz Road property to the 420 Half Day Road property Special Use 
and to allow parking expansion onto 2 Hotz Road property for Animal Hospital operations, as 
presented in the petitioner’s presentation packet and based on the Special Use  Findings of Fact, 
dated April 2, 2019, and further subject to…  

{Insert any additional conditions or modification desired by the Zoning Board} 

Item 3.3 Motion (Variation - Parking): 
Having made findings based on facts covered in a Public Hearing on April 18, 2019, the Zoning 
Board recommends approval to the Village Board of a variation from Code Section 6-11-2(B)(4) 
to locate parking spaces in front and corner side yards, as presented in the petitioner’s 



Agenda Item 

ZB 3.1 - 3.4 

presentation packet and based on the Variation Findings of Fact, dated April 2, 2019, and further 
subject to…  

{Insert any additional conditions or modification desired by the Zoning Board} 
Item 3.4 Motion (Variation - Fence):  
Having made findings based on facts covered in a Public Hearing on April 18, 2019, the Zoning 
Board recommends approval to the Village Board of a variation from Code Section 6-15-
3(A)(1)(a)(i) to locate a yard fence in a required corner side yard setback, as presented in the 
petitioner’s presentation packet and based on the Variation Findings of Fact, dated April 2, 2019, 
and further subject to…  

{Insert any additional conditions or modification desired by the Zoning Board} 

Reports and Documents Attached: 

 Document 1: Location Map.

 Document 2: Petitioner’s cover letter, responses to Rezoning, Special Use Amendment and
Variation Standards and presentation packet, prepared by Lincolnshire Animal Hospital, with
the cover letter dated April 2, 2019.

 Document 3: Ordinance #09-3083-06.

 Document 4: E Small Scale Office Code.

 Document 5: Off-Street Parking & Loading Code.

 Document 6: Comprehensive Plan recommendations.

 Document 7: Draft Rezoning and Special Use Amendment/Variation ordinances prepared by
the Village Attorney.

Meeting History 

Committee of the Whole: March 11, 2019 

Zoning Board (current): April 18, 2019 



6

475

5

1

420

2

1

10
8

2

3

2

4

1

4

3

5

4

3
5

21

19

8

10

22
17
14

6

9

13

2523
5

16 1815

11

20

4
24

7

12

2

HALF DAY RD

WESTGATE DR

HOTZ RD

MI
LL

BR
OO

K
DR

ANDOVER CT

MIDDLESEX CT

NORTHFIELD CT

ABBEY RD

BEA CONSF IE
LD

CT

E

R4

R1

O/Id

R3

I

2 Hotz Rd &
420 Half
Day Rd

2 Hotz Rd & 420 Half Day Rd

Legend
Zoning Districts

!

! ! !! Subject Location
Building
Parcel Boundary
Village Boundary

Community & Economic Development

± CED_LocationMap
JVD, 2/5/2018

1 inch = 104 feet

DOCUMENT 1



Stu Clarke/Patrick Emmelot 

Lincolnshire Animal Hospital 

420 Half Day Rd 

Lincolnshire, IL 6006 

April 2, 2019 

Zoning Board Chairperson Bichkoff 

1 Olde Half Day Rd. 

Lincolnshire, IL 60069 

Dear Zoning Board Chairperson Bichkoff and Zoning Board Members, 

We are requesting a rezoning of the 2 Hotz Road property from R1 Single Family Residential to 

E Small Scale Office zoning district and a Lincolnshire Animal Hospital Special Use 

Amendment to permit parking expansion into the adjacent property at 2 Hotz Road. Please find 

enclosed a plan for proposed parking expansion on the property directly west of Lincolnshire 

Animal Hospital. 

We have negotiated a contract for the purchase of the property (2 Hotz Road) pending village 

approval of a parking addition.  The parking expansion would provide additional accessible 

parking for our clients and staff, which will in turn allow us to provide better service to our 

clients.  We feel the site has some challenges that limit development of the land for a single 

family residence and or small office building.  Although we will be affecting a small amount of 

the current wetland, the layout of the parking area is designed to make the impact minimal (a 

significantly decreased impact when compared to development of the entire site for housing). 

The lot has 0.4 acres of wetland, but our project will impact only 0.14 acres of wetland. The 

position and location of the proposed parking area was chosen to limit the impact on the wetland 

and to provide the most set back possible to our neighbors while making the parking area 

accessible to the hospital. 

Our current parking areas provide 21 spaces (8 client spaces and 1 additional space that is ADA 

compliant, along with 12 spaces for staff located behind the building). 

With the parking addition, we would have 44 spaces along with 2 additional ADA compliant 

spaces.   

We currently have 22-23 employees (up to 16 at one time) with 12 staff parking spaces available.  

This requires some cars to be parked along the side of the building which we had not intended. 

ANIMAL HOSPITAL 

DOCUMENT 2



The parking area will be used only during our current business hours of 8 am to 6 pm Monday 

thru Friday and 8 am to 12 pm on Saturday.  We are closed Sunday.   

We are requesting 2 zoning variations in regard to the parking extension from Lincolnshire 

Animal Hospital into 2 Hotz Rd property.   The zoning variations include: 1) To allow placement 

of parking spaces in a front yard (which is defined as an area between the front lot line (Half Day 

Rd) and the front of the Animal Hospital building and 2) To allow the placement of parking 

spaces in a corner side yard (which is defined as an area between the corner side lot line (Hotz 

Rd) and the front of the Animal Hospital.  These zoning variances are required due to the 

location of the current Animal Hospital structure (which cannot reasonably be moved forward 

(toward Rt. 22)) and the location of the 2 Hotz Rd property (which is a corner lot).  Moving the 

proposed parking area north (to locate it behind or north of the Animal Hospital structure) would 

decrease the set back from the residence north of 2 Hotz Rd and impede on their privacy and 

have a greater impact on wetlands.  The proposed location of the parking area allows for larger 

setbacks and improved screening. 

We have had a long history of boarding pets, which required some employee traffic on Saturday 

evenings and Sundays.  With our growth over the last 10 years, we have added additional doctors 

and now require additional space for medicine and surgery; thus, we have discontinued our 

boarding service and plan a small, internal remodel to better use that space (we currently have 5 

exam rooms and plan to remodel the previous boarding space to create 2 additional exam rooms 

and expand our treatment area). With the elimination of boarding services, we will eliminate 

Saturday evening and Sunday traffic at the hospital, which we hope our neighbors will find 

appealing.  We have no plans for increasing the current footprint of our building.  

Currently, there is one existing, wooden light pole approximately 25 feet high that provides light 

to the current client parking area.  The existing, wooden light pole will be removed. We are 

proposing to light the current parking area and proposed addition with twelve 36” tall bollard 

lights and two 15’ tall light poles. The lighting will be indirect and downward facing.  The 

bollard lights and light poles will be black in color.   

Our trash enclosure will remain in its current location. 

We have reached out to Westgate, the neighborhood to our west, and agreed to forward them a 

plan of the proposed project. They have expressed a few concerns, but requests included 

removing brush and vegetation at the southwest corner of the property to increase visibility of 

westbound traffic on Route 22 and that the exit from the lot not be located too close to Route 22.  

Head light impact will be mitigated in 2 ways.  A 3.5 foot berm already exists along the west 

side of Hotz Rd.  We will add appropriate shrubs to the west end of the proposed parking lot to 

provide year round screening.  One resident expressed concern that she has difficulty exiting 

Hotz Road onto Route 22 during Stevenson High School class dismissal hours (3-4 pm) and at 5 

pm when employees from the industrial park to the south of Rt. 22 are leaving from their offices.  

She also indicated that vehicles will “stand” on Hotz Rd waiting for students to cross the berm 

located in that area.  We believe increased Lincolnshire Police Department presence over the last 

several years has resolved the standing vehicle issue.  In regard to the proposed parking area 



increasing traffic flow on to Hotz Rd. We feel it will be minimal.   Currently, if patrons of the 

Animal Hospital intended to use Hotz Rd, they exit our current lot and then turn north onto Hotz 

Rd. (i.e. no change in traffic flow). By our calculations, if all patrons left the hospital lot via 

proposed Hotz Rd exit it would add ten cars per hour or minimal impact.  

Our neighbors directly behind the current building and staff parking area have no concerns and 

are encouraged that there may be fewer mosquitoes.   

Our neighbor to our west and directly north of 2 Hotz Road was concerned that development of 

the property may affect their privacy and their property values.  They requested a fence be placed 

along the northern side of the property boundary extending to Hotz Road.  They also requested 

the fence connect with an extension of the existing fence that runs along the north and west side 

of our staff parking area which we are more than willing to provide and maintain.  The fence 

would be the same style and design as the current fence, which is a solid, rectangular, cedar 

fence with a 1 foot decorative, cedar lattice top.  The solid portion of the fence is 7 feet in height.  

With the 1 foot lattice work included, the total height of the current fence and proposed fence 

extension is 8 feet.  The finished side of the fence would be outward facing.   Because the 

existing fence is 10 years old, we will replace the existing fence so the existing fence and the 

new fence will be the same. 

The fence will be screened by current trees along with new trees to be added.  Currently, the 

space between the north side of the proposed parking area and the fence contains approximately 

58 trees including: maple, cottonwood, ash, crabapple and cherry.  Five of these will be removed 

due to their condition.  We will further screen the fence by adding six new bald cypress trees 

along the south side of the fence.   Further screening planting is difficult due to the limited space 

and wetland conditions.    

In regard to the proposed fence along the north lot line of 2 Hotz Rd, we are requesting a zoning 

variation to allow the fence to run continuously along the north side of the 2 Hotz lot line to Hotz 

Rd (instead of stopping at a 35 foot set back from Hotz Rd).  The fencing zoning variation will 

provide increased privacy for the homeowner.  

We have reached out to Beaconsfield neighborhood, our neighbors to the East, they are 

reviewing our plan. 

To discourage illegal parking from Stevenson High School students  we intend to pursue 

strategies that have been successful in the past including: display warnings of “vehicles will be 

towed” if parked illegally, add additional signage that directly reminds Stevenson High School 

students that it is illegal for them to park in the lot and contract with the Lincolnshire Police 

Department to patrol the lot and issue citations when appropriate.  

On February 27th, 2019 We received a preliminary approval from Lake County Storm Water 

Management indicating they did not foresee any major concerns with the project we had 

proposed (I have copied that email in below). 



On March 11, 2019 we gratefully received referral from the Village Board to pursue the 

proposed parking expansion. 

Thank you for your time in considering our proposal. 

Sincerely yours, 

Stu Clarke 

Patrick Emmelot 

Email from Lake County Stormwater Management. 

The Lake County Stormwater Management Commission (SMC) understands that the Owner of 

the subject parcel has (or will) purchase the adjacent parcel on the west (PIN #1515303013) for 

the purpose of expanding the existing parking lot. The SMC has no objection to the proposed 

development with the following concerns and caveats: 

• Stormwater detention does not appear to be required based on the provided
design and calculations

• A wetland review by SMC will likely be required during the permit review process
• A wetland 80-150 Hydrology review will likely be required during permit review
• The need for wetland mitigation will be determined during the permit review
• Depressional storage will need to be maintained to avoid increasing flood risk on

adjacent parcels
• Additional comments will likely be generated during the permit review process.

We would like to be of assistance. If you have any questions, or would like to set up a 
meeting, please call our office at (847) 377-7705 or feel free to e-mail me. If you have 
any additional concerns that have not been addressed by the regulatory staff regarding 
the above comments, you may contact Chief Engineer Kurt Woolford 
kwoolford@lakecountyil.gov or Executive Director Michael Warner 
mwarner@lakecountyil.gov at (847) 377-7700. 

Sincerely, 

LAKE COUNTY STORMWATER MANAGEMENT COMMISSION 

Robert D. Gardiner, P.E., CFM 
Permit Engineer 

Lake County Stormwater Management Commission 
500 W. Winchester Road 
Libertyville, IL  60048 

rgardiner@lakecountyil.gov 

mailto:kwoolford@lakecountyil.gov
mailto:mwarner@lakecountyil.gov


FINDINGS OF FACT REZONING 

1. Existing zoning classification of the property.  R1 Single-Family Residential.

2. Existing uses of property and existing physical, social or economic factors within the general
area of the property in question. Currently the property is vacant and undeveloped.  The
surrounding properties to the north and west are developed with single family homes.
The property to the east is improved with Lincolnshire Animal Hospital.

3. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question.
To the north: R1 Single- Family Residential (single -family home).  To the south: Office
Industrial (telephone distribution facility).  To the east: E Small Scale Office
(Lincolnshire Animal Hospital).  To the west: R3 Single- Family Residence (Westgate
Subdivision).

4. The suitability of the property in questions to the uses permitted under the existing or
proposed zoning classification.  The property is poorly suited for development of a
Single- Family Residence under the current R1 classification due to its extensive
wetlands and poor soil conditions.  Its is suitable for development under the
proposed E Small - Scale Office classification given the adjacency to the Animal
Hospital.

5. The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, including
changes, if any, which have taken place in its present zoning classification. The previous
trend of development has been single family homes or townhomes.

6. The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned.  Over 15 years.

7. The extent to which the property’s value is diminished by the existing zoning classification.
The property’s value is significantly diminished by the current zoning (R1 Single-
Family Residential).  To develop the property into a single family home would require
expensive wetland mitigation as well  as onsite stormwater detention.

8. The impact upon the objectives of the official Comprehensive Plan of the Village, as
amended.  Little or no impact on the Comprehensive Plan of the Village as this is
single lot surrounded by developed properties and does not divert from options



included in the Comprehensive Plan of the Village. The comprehensive plan 
recommends a professional office land use development for this property.  This is 
consistent with the proposal. 

Prepared by: 

Stuart Clarke 



STANDARDS FOR ZONING VARIATION 

1. Because of the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions
of the specific property involved, a particular hardship to the owner would result,
as distinguished from a mere inconvenience if the strict letter of the regulations
were to be carried out:   The zoning variation requested for parking is needed
because the 2 Hotz Rd. Property is a corner lot that is currently
undeveloped. The property is smaller than the 420 Half Day Rd property
which the Animal Hospital occupies.  The hospital cannot reasonably be
moved toward the Half Day Rd lot line to bring the proposed parking area
behind the building structure.  Moving the proposed parking extension north
would impact the neighbor to the north because the extensive set back of
the proposed parking area from the neighbor’s lot line would be minimized.
The neighbors to the north of  2 Hotz Rd and the proposed parking
extension from the Animal Hospital have requested continuous fencing to
provide privacy for their residence.  Without a fencing zoning variation on
this site, the proposed fence along the north side of the proposed parking
area would end at the zoning set back line of 35 from Hotz Rd.

2. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only
under the conditions allowed by the regulations governing the zoning district in which
it is located; The property has an extensive wetland component that would
require extensive mitigation costs if the entire site was developed for single
family residence.  The zoning variance is needed because the location of the
proposed parking area minimizes impact to the wetland areas and neighbors -
relocating it north to place parking spaces behind the Animal Hospital Building
is not physically possible and would have a greater impact on wetlands and
neighbors.  The continuous fencing variation is needed to provide a
continuous privacy barrier along the north side of the proposed parking
expansion for north neighbors of 2 Hotz Rd property.

3. The conditions upon which an application for a variation is based are unique to the
property for which the variance is sought, and are not applicable, generally, to other
property within the same zoning classification;  This is a unique situation as the
property in question (2 Hotz Rd) is the only undeveloped contiguous land
adjacent to the Animal Hospital that could be reasonably developed for a
parking extension.  The location of the smaller lot (relative to 420 Half Day Rd)
requires a zoning variation because we cannot reasonably move the hospital
building south (toward the Rt. 22 Lot line) or west (toward the Hotz Rd lot line)
to provide the parking addition to the rear of the building structure.  The
zoning variation requested for fencing is required to allow continuous a fence
along the north lot line of 2 Hotz Rd providing a privacy barrier for neighbors
north of 2 Hotz Rd.



4. The purpose of the variation is not based primarily upon a desire to increase financial
gain;  The proposed variation is not based primarily upon a desire to increase
financial gain.  The variation is to allow parking spaces in the front yard and
corner side yard are based on the location of the 2 Hotz Rd property (a corner
lot with Rt. 22 to the south and Hotz Rd to the west) and the location of the
current Animal Hospital structure.  The variation for the placement of a fence
in a corner side yard setback is based on the request of the neighbor to the
north of 2 Hotz road for increased privacy and to preserve their home value.

5. The alleged difficulty is caused by this Title and has not been created by any persons
presently having an interest in the property;  The variance requested to allow
parking spaces in a front yard and a corner side yard are due to code
requirements and are not caused by the current owner (Mr. Ernie Fry)  They are
based on location of the 2 Hotz Rd property in relation to the location of the
current Animal Hospital structure as well as the location of the 2 Hotz Rd (as a
corner lot).  The extension of the proposed fence into the side yard set back is
based on a request for privacy and to protect surrounding property values and
not a result of any action of the current property owner.

6. The granting of the variations will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious
to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is
located;  The requested variance to allow parking spaces in a front yard and
corner side yard will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to
other property or improvements to the neighborhood.  The proposed parking
expansion that requires the variances will have extensive setbacks, be well
screened and will improve drainage. The requested variance to allow
placement of a fence in a corner side yard setback will help preserve property
values of the neighboring home owner and not be  detrimental to the public
welfare or injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood,

7. The granting of the variation will not alter the essential character of the neighborhood
or locality;  The variation of allowing parking spaces in a front yard and side
yard along with the variation to allow placement of a fence in a corner side
yard setback will not alter the essential character of the neighborhood.  Do to
the extensive screening of the property (both natural occurring vegetation, and
screening landscaping, a privacy fence (requested by the homeowner directly
north of 2 Hotz Rd) to be added), along with exceptionally large setbacks, the
essential character of the neighborhood will not be altered.

8. The proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent
property or substantially increase the congestion of public streets, or increase the
danger of fire, or impair natural drainage or create drainage problems on adjacent
properties, or endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property
values within the neighborhood;  The variation requesting parking spaces in a



front yard and side yard will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to 
adjacent property or substantially increase congestion of public streets or 
increase danger of fire, impair natural drainage or create drainage problems.  
Currently 2 Hotz Rd is vacant, contains many dead and damaged trees and 
stagnant water.  The proposed parking extension and uniting 2 Hotz Rd with 
the adjacent property occupied by the Animal Hospital (420 Half Day Rd) will 
create a unified consistent zoning of E small business on both properties. The 
removal of dead and damaged trees to allow the building of the parking 
extension will improve light and natural drainage.  The parking extension also 
requires a variance to allow the placement of a fence in a corner side yard 
setback.  This fencing request was proposed by the neighbor directly north of 
2 Hotz Rd to preserve their privacy and home value.  It will not affect the 
supply of light, air or increase congestion or affect drainage. 

9. The proposed variation is consistent with the Official Comprehensive Policies Plan of
the Village and other development codes of the Village. The Comprehensive
Policies Plan recommends a professional office land use development for  2
Hotz Rd property.  The parking extension (which requires variation to allow
parking spaces in a front yard and parking spaces in a corner side yard)  is
consistent with the plan.  The fence extension into a corner side yard set back
will help provide privacy to adjoining neighbor while allowing the parking
extension to move forward which is a land use development consist with the
Comprehensive Plan.

Prepared by: 

Stuart Clarke 



FINDINGS OF FACT FOR SPECIAL USE 

1. The special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the
immediate vicinity of the subject premises for the purposes already permitted, nor
substantially diminish and impair property values within the neighborhood in which it
is to be located.  The amended Special Use permit for the Animal Hospital will
allow for parking expansion to provide needed parking for residents of
Lincolnshire and surrounding communities who have come to rely on our
veterinary hospital for the care of their pets.  It will make use of the dedicated
turning lane onto Hotz Rd for access to the parking area which may reduce the
need for some east bound clients to U turn at Shelter Road or enter the
Beaconsfield Subdivision in order to become west bound to enter our current
Parking area.

2. The establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly
development and improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the
district. Currently the 2 Hotz Rd site is vacant, holds water that breeds
mosquitos and is generally unkept.  Developing the site in the way we envision
will maintain existing mature trees where possible, allow abatement of the
standing water on the site, and provide extensive setbacks that will improve
neighboring property values.  Removing some low overgrowth (buck thorn and
other invasive species) will result in improved visibility of westbound traffic for
motorists on Hotz Rd.  Landscaping at the east end (ornamental trees) and
west end (spruce trees) of the parking area will diminish headlight impact and
provide screening of the parking area for surrounding homes.  A fence along
the north side of the property line (as requested by adjacent homeowner) will
provide privacy for the property owner.

3. Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or
will be provided. Utility and access roads are already in place and drainage will
be enhanced.  Lighting will be “dark sky” type and low level Bollard lighting
will be in place along walks to eliminate any lighting impact on neighboring
properties.

4. Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so
designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. Current driveway
ingress and egress to Rt. 22 is in place.  The new parking area does not
provide for additional Rt. 22 access or egress.  Vehicles would use the current
driveway on to Rt. 22 or exit from the west end of the proposed parking area to
proceed north or south on Hotz Rd.  By our calculations, if all clients exited on
to Hotz Rd, we would add 10 cars per hour to the traffic flow on Hotz.
Currently, clients that intend to access Hotz Rd from our hospital head west on
Rt. 22 and then go right or north on Hotz (no significant increase from current
traffic load).



5. The proposed special use is not contrary to the objectives of the Official
Comprehensive Plan of the Village as amended. The Animal Hospital has an
existing Special Use Zoning designation which it has maintained for close to
23 years.   The goal will be to unite the 2 Hotz Rd and 420 Half Day properties
expanding the current hospital Special Use Zoning to both properties.  The
Comprehensive Plan recommends a professional office land use development
for this property.

6. The special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of
the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance,
be varied pursuant to Section 6-14-9 of this Chapter.   The amended Special Use
will maintain all E Small -Scale Office zoning regulations and conditions of the
Special Use permit for the Animal Hospital (Ordinance #09-3083-06).

Prepared by: 

Stuart Clarke 



 

Existing Fence 



Lincolnshire Animal Hospital

Cedar Fence - Finished side is facing out.  
Remove and replace existing like fence, 
and add new fence as noted on plans.

7'

1'

brittany
Line

brittany
Line

brittany
Line



 

 

Color rendering of proposed 

new fence 



2 Hotz from Clinic 

 

2 Hotz from across 22 (panoramic) 

 

2 Hotz from across 22 

 

 

 

 



6 Hotz from Westgate entrance 

 

6 Hotz 

 

Westgate #2 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Westgate #3 

 

Westgate from 2 Holz - Proposed exit #2 

 

Westgate from 6 Hotz 

 



1. COVER SHEET

2. EXISTING CONDITIONS

4. GRADING & UTILITY PLAN

5. WETLAND IMPACT AREA

6. DEPRESSIONAL STORAGE PLAN

RIM OF VALVE VAULT LOCATED AT THE NW 

CORNER OF HALF DAY RD (IL. RTE 22) AND

HOTZ ROAD.

NGVD29 ELEVATION 670.62

INDEX OF SHEETS

BENCHMARK

TO OBTAIN NAVD88 DATUM SUBTRACT 0.284'

3. SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARLINGTON HEIGHTS, ILLINOIS  60004

AutoCAD SHX Text
PH 847.577.8808    FAX 847.577.0229

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civil Engineers - Land Surveyors

AutoCAD SHX Text
& ASSOCIATES, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
534 WEST CAMPUS DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF    SHEETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING UTILITIES WHEN THE PLANS OR SPECIAL PROVISIONS INCLUDE INFORMATION PERTAINING TO THE LOCATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITY FACILITIES, SUCH INFORMATION REPRESENTS ONLY THE OPINION OF THE ENGINEER AS TO THE LOCATION OF SUCH UTILITIES AND IS ONLY INCLUDED FOR THE CONVENIENCE OF THE BIDDER. THE ENGINEER AND THE OWNER ASSUME NO RESPONSIBILITY WHATSOEVER IN RESPECT TO THE SUFFICIENCY OR VERACITY OF THE INFORMATION SHOWN ON THE PLANS RELATIVE TO THE LOCATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITY FACILITIES OR THE MANNER IN WHICH THEY ARE TO BE REMOVED OR ADJUSTED. IT SHALL BE THE CONTRACTORS RESPONSIBILITY TO DETERMINE THE ACTUAL LOCATION OF ALL SUCH FACILITIES. HE SHALL ALSO OBTAIN FROM THE RESPECTIVE UTILITY COMPANIES DETAILED INFORMATION RELATIVE TO THE LOCATION OF THEIR FACILITIES AND THE WORKING SCHEDULES OF THE UTILITY COMPANIES FOR REMOVING OR ADJUSTING THEM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROFESSIONAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
REGISTERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
62-42874

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER

AutoCAD SHX Text
1(800)892-0123

AutoCAD SHX Text
CALL JULIE TOLL FREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
48 HOURS BEFORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
YOU DIG

AutoCAD SHX Text
1(800)892-0123

AutoCAD SHX Text
CALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAY 365 DAYS A YEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPERATES 24 HOURS A

AutoCAD SHX Text
YOU DIG

AutoCAD SHX Text
CALL BEFORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WARNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED FOR:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE STATEMENT TO THE BEST OF OUR KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF, THE DRAINAGE OF SURFACE WATERS WILL NOT BE CHANGED BY THE CONSTRUCTION OF THIS SUBDIVISION OR ANY PART THEREOF, OR, THAT IF DRAINAGE WILL BE CHANGED, REASONABLE PROVISION HAS BEEN MADE FOR THE COLLECTION AND DIVERSION OF SUCH SURFACE WATERS INTO THE PUBLIC AREAS, OR DRAINS APPROVED FOR THE USE BY THE MUNICIPAL ENGINEER, AND THAT SUCH SURFACE WATERS ARE PLANNED FOR IN ACCORDANCE WITH GENERALLY ACCEPTED ENGINEERING PRACTICES SO AS TO REDUCE THE LIKELIHOOD OF DAMAGE TO THE ADJOINING PROPERTY BECAUSE OF THE CONSTRUCTION OF THIS SUBDIVISION.                                     REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER 62-42874

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE EDGE OF PAVEMENT UNLESS INDICATED OTHERWISE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN SYMBOLS AND DASHED LINES

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDICATE EXISTING IMPROVEMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL DIMENSIONS AND COORDINATES ARE REFERENCED TO

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.C.C

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARSH

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAFFIC ARROW

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING STALL COUNT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATE TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAVEMENT REMOVAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ITEM REMOVAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER CLEANOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER METER VAULT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOIL BORINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAFFIC SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE HYDRANT, VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANHOLE, INLET, CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
GEOMETRIC COORDINATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIGHT POLES

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE ARROWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
IBT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNDERDRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
CABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
B-

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
XXXX

AutoCAD SHX Text
(XXX.XX)

AutoCAD SHX Text
XXX.XX

AutoCAD SHX Text
XXX.XX

AutoCAD SHX Text
XXXX

AutoCAD SHX Text
XXX.XX

AutoCAD SHX Text
XXX.XX

AutoCAD SHX Text
XXX.XX

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
#

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
12-20-18

AutoCAD SHX Text
T.J.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
5160

AutoCAD SHX Text
L.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
 TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVER SHEET & LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
 PRELIMINARY IMPROVEMENT PLANS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
 PRELIMINARY IMPROVEMENT PLANS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLNSHIRE, IL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
420 HALF DAY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLNSHIRE, IL

AutoCAD SHX Text
_____________________

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABBEY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HALF DAY RD. (IL RTE 22)

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOTZ ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE



AutoCAD SHX Text
T/F 668.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND AREA 0.40 ACS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
175.79' S89%%D24'28"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
227.25' N00%%D21'34"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
188.72' S00%%D14'42"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
179.00' S78%%D09'49"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS ROUTE 22

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOTZ ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE AREA 36,514 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE BM

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 670.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARLINGTON HEIGHTS, ILLINOIS  60004

AutoCAD SHX Text
PH 847.577.8808    FAX 847.577.0229

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civil Engineers - Land Surveyors

AutoCAD SHX Text
& ASSOCIATES, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
534 WEST CAMPUS DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF    SHEETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
09-06-18

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5160

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONDITIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
6



New Fence

Replacement Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/F 668.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
83.7'

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
73.3'

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
125'

AutoCAD SHX Text
132'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 3.5' HIGH BERM ALONG HOTZ RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATE POWER POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
175.79' S89%%D24'28"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
227.25' N00%%D21'34"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
188.72' S00%%D14'42"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
179.00' S78%%D09'49"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS ROUTE 22

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOTZ ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE AREA 36,514 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE DEPRESSIONAL STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2,800 CF

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/BERM 666.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM 665.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLASS 5B WETLAND FORB MIXTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE BM

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 670.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
4,980 SF = 0.11 ACS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUFFER AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARLINGTON HEIGHTS, ILLINOIS  60004

AutoCAD SHX Text
PH 847.577.8808    FAX 847.577.0229

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civil Engineers - Land Surveyors

AutoCAD SHX Text
& ASSOCIATES, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
534 WEST CAMPUS DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF    SHEETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
09-06-18

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5160

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DATA CHART                      EXISTING         PROPOSED    ALLOWABLE ZONING CLASS        E-SU/R-1       E-SU/E-SU GROSS AREA          0.91 ACS.        1.75 ACS. IMPERVIOUS COVG      0.43 ACS.        0.66 ACS. OPEN SPACE          1.32 ACS.        1.09 ACS. BUILDING SPACE        5,231 SF        5,231 SF  FAR                    0.13             0.07           0.36 BUILDING HEIGHT         19'8"            19'8"           42'      PARKING SPACES  REQ'D 1/EMP + 2/EXAM ROOM  16 EMP + 7 EXAM ROOM = 30 SPACES   STANDARD             20              44       ACCESSIBLE             1               2 SETBACKS AS SHOWN FRONT                                                 35' SIDE                                                   20' REAR                                                  30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ZONING  420 HALF DAY RD           E-SU 2 HOTZ RD.                  R-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
THERE WILL BE NO ACCESS TO ROUTE 22 FROM 2 HOTZ RD.

brittany
Polygonal Line

brittany
Polygonal Line



AutoCAD SHX Text
T/F 668.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
83.7'

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
73.3'

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
125'

AutoCAD SHX Text
132'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 3.5' HIGH BERM ALONG HOTZ RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATE POWER POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND AREA 0.40 ACS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
227.25' N00%%D21'34"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
188.72' S00%%D14'42"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
179.00' S78%%D09'49"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOTZ ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE AREA 36,514 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
668.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
667.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
667.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
668.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
669.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
670.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
669.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
669.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
668.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
668.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
667.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
667.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
668.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
668.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE DEPRESSIONAL STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2,800 CF

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/BERM 666.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM 665.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLASS 5B WETLAND FORB MIXTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV

AutoCAD SHX Text
665.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV

AutoCAD SHX Text
665.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB 24"

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 667.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV 665.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER @ 0.55%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
36' 8" PVC STORM

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV

AutoCAD SHX Text
665.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTFALL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER @ 0.55%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
36' 8" PVC STORM

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
4,980 SF = 0.11 ACS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUFFER AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPEED LIMIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN TO BE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATED

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATED

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPEED LIMIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE CLEAR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/C. VERIFY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN. W/COMED

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARLINGTON HEIGHTS, ILLINOIS  60004

AutoCAD SHX Text
PH 847.577.8808    FAX 847.577.0229

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civil Engineers - Land Surveyors

AutoCAD SHX Text
& ASSOCIATES, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
534 WEST CAMPUS DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF    SHEETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-1-18

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5160

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADING & UTILITY PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1"=10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
600.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
600.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONTOUR



AutoCAD SHX Text
T/F 668.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
83.7'

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
73.3'

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
125'

AutoCAD SHX Text
132'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 3.5' HIGH BERM ALONG HOTZ RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATE POWER POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND AREA 0.40 ACS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
175.79' S89%%D24'28"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
227.25' N00%%D21'34"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
188.72' S00%%D14'42"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
179.00' S78%%D09'49"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS ROUTE 22

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOTZ ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE AREA 36,514 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECTED TOE OF SLOPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECTED TOE OF SLOPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE BM

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 670.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARLINGTON HEIGHTS, ILLINOIS  60004

AutoCAD SHX Text
PH 847.577.8808    FAX 847.577.0229

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civil Engineers - Land Surveyors

AutoCAD SHX Text
& ASSOCIATES, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
534 WEST CAMPUS DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF    SHEETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-1-18

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5160

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND IMPACT AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
IMPACT AREA IS 6,046 SF=0.14 ACS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND IMPACT AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUFFER FILL AREA IS 4,850 SF = 0.11 ACS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUFFER FILL AREA



AutoCAD SHX Text
T/F 668.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
83.7'

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
73.3'

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
125'

AutoCAD SHX Text
132'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 3.5' HIGH BERM ALONG HOTZ RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATE POWER POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND AREA 0.40 ACS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
175.79' S89%%D24'28"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
227.25' N00%%D21'34"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
188.72' S00%%D14'42"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
179.00' S78%%D09'49"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS ROUTE 22

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOTZ ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE AREA 36,514 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE DEPRESSIONAL STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2,800 CF

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/BERM 666.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM 665.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLASS 5B WETLAND FORB MIXTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE BM

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 670.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BUFFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
4,980 SF = 0.11 ACS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUFFER AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARLINGTON HEIGHTS, ILLINOIS  60004

AutoCAD SHX Text
PH 847.577.8808    FAX 847.577.0229

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civil Engineers - Land Surveyors

AutoCAD SHX Text
& ASSOCIATES, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
534 WEST CAMPUS DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF    SHEETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJS

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-1-18

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5160

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEPRESSIONAL STORAGE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEPRESSIONAL STORAGE FILLED 2,371 CF= 0.05 AC-FT



6
'
-
0
"

PA
3

PA
4

CO

1

RG
14

RG
16

QI
1

GR
48

HH
50

GI
1

GR
39

CL

49

RV
50

FI
20

AM
21

NW
29

TD
6

VD

19

AA
1

20'-0"

2
0
'
-
0
"

20'-0"

2
0
'
-
0
"

S C A L E   I N   F E E T
1"=20'-0"

0 20' 40 60'10'

N

This drawing is the property of ILT Vignocchi and cannot be used for any purpose without the written

consent of ILT Vignocchi.  ILT Vignocchi reserves the right to substitute plant material varieties based on

availability.
General Notes: Verify site conditions and information on drawings.  ILT Vignocchi (Landscape Architect)  does not warrant or
guarantee the accuracy and completeness of the work provided  within the Contract Documents beyond a reasonable diligence.  If
any mistakes, omissions  or discrepancies are found to exist within the Contract Documents or on the project site  pertaining to the
Landscape and Irrigation Construction of this project, then ILT Vignocchi  shall be promptly notified so that ILT Vignocchi may have the
opportunity to take necessary  steps to resolve discrepancies.  Failure to promptly notify ILT Vignocchi of such conditions shall  absolve
ILT Vignocchi from any responsibility for the consequences of such failure.  Actions  taken without the knowledge or consent of ILT
Vignocchi, or in contradiction to ILT Vignocchi's  Contract Documents or recommendations shall become the responsibility not of ILT
Vignocchi,  but of the parties responsible for the taking of such action.

25865 West Ivanhoe Road Design By:  az

Wauconda, Illinois 60084 Project No.  19-5-104

ph. 847.487.5200         fax. 847.487.5265 Sheet No.   L-1
www.iltvignocchi.com

Existing Conditions

FOR:

ISSUE DATE:

25865 West Ivanhoe Road     Wauconda, Il  60084
Phone: 847.487.5200                     Fax: 847487-5265

3/22/19
REVISIONS:

DATE: DESCRIPTION:

APPROVED BY: az

Lincolnshire Animal Hospital
420 Half Day Road
Lincolnshire, IL 60069

Notes:
1.The contractor shall verify all dimensions and conditions affecting their work with
the actual conditions at the project site. Any discrepancies shall be immediately
reported to the Landscape Architect before any work is performed; otherwise, the
contractor assumes full responsibility.  In the event of discrepancies or omissions in
the plans or specifications, the contractor shall obtain written instructions from the
Landscape Architect prior to proceeding with any part of the work affected.
Failure to obtain such instruction will result in the contractor proceeding at his own
risk and expense.
2.All work performed under this contract shall be guaranteed against defect in
materials and workmanship.
3.When the plans include information pertaining to the location of underground
facilities, such information represents only the opinion of the Landscape Architect
as to the location of such utilities and is only included for the convenience of the
contractor.  The owner and Landscape Architect assume no responsibility in
respect to the sufficiency or accuracy of the information shown on the plans
relative to the location of underground utility facilities or the manner in which they
are to be removed or adjusted.  It shall be the contractor's responsibility to
determine the actual location of all such facilities.
4. The contractor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the owner, municipality,
and landscape architect from all liability and expenses including the cost of legal
defense arising out of the performance of the work or out of any claim by any
subcontractor or anyone who furnishes material or labor.
5.If, during construction operations, any loose material is deposited in the flow line
of gutters, drainage structures, swales, ditches, etc. such that the natural flow line
of water is obstructed in any way, this loose material shall be removed at the close
of each day by the responsible party.  At the conclusion of construction operations
all drainage structures and flow lines shall be free from dirt and debris.  This work
shall be considered incidental to the contract.
6. Failure of contractor to agree to these conditions, as indicated by signature and
date below, will render this drawing set null and void, and will fully indemnify ILT
Vignocchi of any and all liability claims relating to construction of any and all
portions or elements set forth in drawing set.

Contractor Agreement
I certify under penalty of law that I understand and agree to all terms and
conditions set forth in this contract.
Contractor Name:________________________________________________________
Company:_______________________________________________________________
Address:__________________________________________________________________
Phone:____________________________________________________________________
Dated:___________________________________________________________________

Page No.

L1
Page Title:
Existing Conditions

South East Corner

South West Corner

East Side

North East Corner

West Side

North West Corner

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/F 668.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS ROUTE 22

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE DEPRESSIONAL STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2,800 CF

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM 665.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLASS 5B WETLAND FORB MIXTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
Granite Cobbles (to match existing)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pet Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pet Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text
Concrete Walkway

AutoCAD SHX Text
Native Area to Remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
Native Area to Remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
Native Area to Remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
Granite Cobbles (to match existing)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Existing Redbud to Remain (root prune as needed)



S C A L E   I N   F E E T
1"=20'-0"

0 20' 40 60'10'

N

General Notes: Verify site conditions and information on drawings.  ILT Vignocchi (Landscape Architect)  does not warrant or
guarantee the accuracy and completeness of the work provided  within the Contract Documents beyond a reasonable diligence.  If
any mistakes, omissions  or discrepancies are found to exist within the Contract Documents or on the project site  pertaining to the
Landscape and Irrigation Construction of this project, then ILT Vignocchi  shall be promptly notified so that ILT Vignocchi may have the
opportunity to take necessary  steps to resolve discrepancies.  Failure to promptly notify ILT Vignocchi of such conditions shall  absolve
ILT Vignocchi from any responsibility for the consequences of such failure.  Actions  taken without the knowledge or consent of ILT
Vignocchi, or in contradiction to ILT Vignocchi's  Contract Documents or recommendations shall become the responsibility not of ILT
Vignocchi,  but of the parties responsible for the taking of such action.

25865 West Ivanhoe Road Design By:  az

Wauconda, Illinois 60084 Project No.  19-5-104

ph. 847.487.5200         fax. 847.487.5265 Sheet No.   L-1
www.iltvignocchi.com

Tree Survey

FOR:

ISSUE DATE:

25865 West Ivanhoe Road     Wauconda, Il  60084
Phone: 847.487.5200                     Fax: 847487-5265

3/18/19
REVISIONS:

DATE: DESCRIPTION:

APPROVED BY: az

Lincolnshire Animal Hospital
420 Half Day Road
Lincolnshire, IL 60069

Notes:
1.The contractor shall verify all dimensions and conditions affecting their work with
the actual conditions at the project site. Any discrepancies shall be immediately
reported to the Landscape Architect before any work is performed; otherwise, the
contractor assumes full responsibility.  In the event of discrepancies or omissions in
the plans or specifications, the contractor shall obtain written instructions from the
Landscape Architect prior to proceeding with any part of the work affected.
Failure to obtain such instruction will result in the contractor proceeding at his own
risk and expense.
2.All work performed under this contract shall be guaranteed against defect in
materials and workmanship.
3.When the plans include information pertaining to the location of underground
facilities, such information represents only the opinion of the Landscape Architect
as to the location of such utilities and is only included for the convenience of the
contractor.  The owner and Landscape Architect assume no responsibility in
respect to the sufficiency or accuracy of the information shown on the plans
relative to the location of underground utility facilities or the manner in which they
are to be removed or adjusted.  It shall be the contractor's responsibility to
determine the actual location of all such facilities.
4. The contractor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the owner, municipality,
and landscape architect from all liability and expenses including the cost of legal
defense arising out of the performance of the work or out of any claim by any
subcontractor or anyone who furnishes material or labor.
5.If, during construction operations, any loose material is deposited in the flow line
of gutters, drainage structures, swales, ditches, etc. such that the natural flow line
of water is obstructed in any way, this loose material shall be removed at the close
of each day by the responsible party.  At the conclusion of construction operations
all drainage structures and flow lines shall be free from dirt and debris.  This work
shall be considered incidental to the contract.
6. Failure of contractor to agree to these conditions, as indicated by signature and
date below, will render this drawing set null and void, and will fully indemnify ILT
Vignocchi of any and all liability claims relating to construction of any and all
portions or elements set forth in drawing set.

Contractor Agreement
I certify under penalty of law that I understand and agree to all terms and
conditions set forth in this contract.
Contractor Name:________________________________________________________
Company:_______________________________________________________________
Address:__________________________________________________________________
Phone:____________________________________________________________________
Dated:___________________________________________________________________

Page No.

L2
Page Title:
Tree Survey

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/F 668.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 SPACES @ 9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
83.7'

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
73.3'

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
125'

AutoCAD SHX Text
132'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 3.5' HIGH BERM ALONG HOTZ RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATE POWER POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
175.79' S89%%D24'28"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
227.25' N00%%D21'34"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
188.72' S00%%D14'42"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
179.00' S78%%D09'49"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS ROUTE 22

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOTZ ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE AREA 36,514 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
668.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
667.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
667.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
668.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
669.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
670.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
669.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
669.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
668.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
668.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
667.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
667.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
668.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
668.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE DEPRESSIONAL STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2,800 CF

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/BERM 666.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM 665.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLASS 5B WETLAND FORB MIXTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV

AutoCAD SHX Text
665.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV

AutoCAD SHX Text
665.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB 24"

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 667.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV 665.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER @ 0.55%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
36' 8" PVC STORM

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV

AutoCAD SHX Text
665.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTFALL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER @ 0.55%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
36' 8" PVC STORM

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE BM

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 670.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
4,980 SF = 0.11 ACS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUFFER AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' WALK



6
'
-
0
"

PA

3

PA

4

CO

1

RG

14

RG

16

QI
1

GR

48

HH

50

GI
1

GR

39

CL
49

RV

50

FI

20

AM

21

NW

29

TD

6

VD

19

AA

1

20'-0"

2
0
'
-
0
"

20'-0"

2
0
'
-
0
"

Forbs Mixture

Mixture not exceeding 5% by PLS weight of any one species of the following:

Lead Plant Butterfly Weed

Smooth Aster White Wild Indigo

Prairie Coreopsis Rattlesnake Master

Ox-Eye Rough Blazing Star

Prairie Bergamont Louse Wart

Purple Prairie Clover Prairie Cinquefoil

Fragrant Coneflower Prairie Dock

Spiderwort Thimble Weed

Sky Blue Aster New England Aster

New Jersey Tea Pale Purple Coneflower

Downy Sunflower Alum Root

Prairie Blazing Star Wild Quinine

White Prairie Clover False Dragonhead

Yellow Coneflower Compass Plant

Rigid Goldenrod Culver's Root

DEPRESSIONAL STORAGE PLANT MIX 2,104 sf
-

PLANTS -  PLUGS - 12" SPACING

TREES CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME CONT CAL SIZE

AA 1 Acer rubrum `Autumn Blaze` / Autumn Blaze Red Maple B & B 3"Cal

CO 1 Celtis occidentalis / Common Hackberry B & B 3"Cal

GI 1 Gleditsia triacanthos inermis / Thornless Common Honeylocust B & B 3"Cal

PA 7 Picea abies / Norway Spruce B & B 10`

QI 1 Quercus imbricaria / Shingle Oak B & B 3"Cal

TD 6 Taxodium distichum / Bald Cypress B & B 3"Cal

SHRUBS CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE FIELD2 FIELD3

FI 20 Forsythia x intermedia / Border Forsythia 36" 48" Spacing

RG 30 Rhus aromatica `Gro-Low` / Gro-Low Fragrant Sumac 5 gal 36" Spacing

VD 19 Viburnum dentatum `Arrowwood` / Arrowwood Viburnum 36" 48" Spacing

ANNUALS/PERENNIALS CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE FIELD2 FIELD3

AM 21 Allium x `Millenium` / Millenium Ornamental Chive 1 gal 18" Spacing

GR 87 Geranium x `Rozanne` TM / Hybrid Cranesbill 1 gal 18" Spacing

HH 50 Hemerocallis x `Chicago Fire` / Chicago Fire Daylily 1 gal 18" Spacing

NW 29 Nepeta x faassenii `Walkers Low` / Walkers Low Catmint 1 gal 18" Spacing

RV 50 Rudbeckia fulgida speciosa `Viette`s Little Suzy` / Coneflower 1 gal 18" Spacing

GRASSES CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE FIELD2 FIELD3

CL 49 Chasmanthium latifolium / Wood Oats 1 gal 18" Spacing

PLANT SCHEDULE NO COLOR

S C A L E   I N   F E E T
1"=20'-0"

0 20' 40 60'10'

N

This drawing is the property of ILT Vignocchi and cannot be used for any purpose without the written

consent of ILT Vignocchi.  ILT Vignocchi reserves the right to substitute plant material varieties based on

availability.
General Notes: Verify site conditions and information on drawings.  ILT Vignocchi (Landscape Architect)  does not warrant or
guarantee the accuracy and completeness of the work provided  within the Contract Documents beyond a reasonable diligence.  If
any mistakes, omissions  or discrepancies are found to exist within the Contract Documents or on the project site  pertaining to the
Landscape and Irrigation Construction of this project, then ILT Vignocchi  shall be promptly notified so that ILT Vignocchi may have the
opportunity to take necessary  steps to resolve discrepancies.  Failure to promptly notify ILT Vignocchi of such conditions shall  absolve
ILT Vignocchi from any responsibility for the consequences of such failure.  Actions  taken without the knowledge or consent of ILT
Vignocchi, or in contradiction to ILT Vignocchi's  Contract Documents or recommendations shall become the responsibility not of ILT
Vignocchi,  but of the parties responsible for the taking of such action.

25865 West Ivanhoe Road Design By:  az

Wauconda, Illinois 60084 Project No.  19-5-104

ph. 847.487.5200         fax. 847.487.5265 Sheet No.   L-1
www.iltvignocchi.com

Landscape Plan

FOR:

ISSUE DATE:

25865 West Ivanhoe Road     Wauconda, Il  60084
Phone: 847.487.5200                     Fax: 847487-5265

3/18/19
REVISIONS:

DATE: DESCRIPTION:

APPROVED BY:

3/22/19 Village Requests

az

Lincolnshire Animal Hospital
420 Half Day Road
Lincolnshire, IL 60069

Notes:
1.The contractor shall verify all dimensions and conditions affecting their work with
the actual conditions at the project site. Any discrepancies shall be immediately
reported to the Landscape Architect before any work is performed; otherwise, the
contractor assumes full responsibility.  In the event of discrepancies or omissions in
the plans or specifications, the contractor shall obtain written instructions from the
Landscape Architect prior to proceeding with any part of the work affected.
Failure to obtain such instruction will result in the contractor proceeding at his own
risk and expense.
2.All work performed under this contract shall be guaranteed against defect in
materials and workmanship.
3.When the plans include information pertaining to the location of underground
facilities, such information represents only the opinion of the Landscape Architect
as to the location of such utilities and is only included for the convenience of the
contractor.  The owner and Landscape Architect assume no responsibility in
respect to the sufficiency or accuracy of the information shown on the plans
relative to the location of underground utility facilities or the manner in which they
are to be removed or adjusted.  It shall be the contractor's responsibility to
determine the actual location of all such facilities.
4. The contractor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the owner, municipality,
and landscape architect from all liability and expenses including the cost of legal
defense arising out of the performance of the work or out of any claim by any
subcontractor or anyone who furnishes material or labor.
5.If, during construction operations, any loose material is deposited in the flow line
of gutters, drainage structures, swales, ditches, etc. such that the natural flow line
of water is obstructed in any way, this loose material shall be removed at the close
of each day by the responsible party.  At the conclusion of construction operations
all drainage structures and flow lines shall be free from dirt and debris.  This work
shall be considered incidental to the contract.
6. Failure of contractor to agree to these conditions, as indicated by signature and
date below, will render this drawing set null and void, and will fully indemnify ILT
Vignocchi of any and all liability claims relating to construction of any and all
portions or elements set forth in drawing set.

Contractor Agreement
I certify under penalty of law that I understand and agree to all terms and
conditions set forth in this contract.
Contractor Name:________________________________________________________
Company:_______________________________________________________________
Address:__________________________________________________________________
Phone:____________________________________________________________________
Dated:___________________________________________________________________

Page No.

L3
Page Title:
Landscape Plan

Taxodium distichum

Picea abies

Rhus aromatica 'Gro-Low'

Celtis occidentalis

Acer rubrum 'Autumn Blaze'

Geranium x 'Rozanne'

Rudbeckia fulgida speciosa 'Viette's Little Suzy'

Forsythia x intermedia

Chasmanthium latifolium

Allium x 'Millenium'

Nepeta x faassenii 'Walkers Low'

Quercus imbricaria

Viburnum dentatum 'Arrowwood'

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/F 668.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS ROUTE 22

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE DEPRESSIONAL STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2,800 CF

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM 665.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLASS 5B WETLAND FORB MIXTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
Granite Cobbles (to match existing)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pet Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pet Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text
Concrete Walkway

AutoCAD SHX Text
Native Area to Remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
Native Area to Remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
Native Area to Remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
Granite Cobbles (to match existing)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Existing Redbud to Remain (root prune as needed)



1. The contractor must specialize in landscape construction, including native

planting and restoration, with a minimum of five years experience on

projects of comparable scope, materials, and complexity, and maintain

qualified labor, and equipment as required to perform work within the

Landscape Schedule. Provide written documentation attesting to this

experience, including job dates and addresses, scope of work performed,

phone numbers of Clients and Owners, and other information

demonstrating capabilities. Do not begin work until such written

documentation has been approved by the owner’s representative.

2. The contractor shall provide adequate labor force at the time of installation

to carefully prepare the site for owner’s representative’s approval, carefully

install materials, and maintain and water installed plant material

concurrent with ongoing new installation. Labor force and operators must

be trained and hold necessary licensure to handle equipment, soil and

landscape materials within requirements of this contract.

3. All work performed under this contract shall be guaranteed against defect
in materials and workmanship.

4. The contractor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the owner,

municipality, and landscape architect from all liability and expenses

including the cost of legal defense arising out of the performance of the
work or out of any claim by any subcontractor or anyone who furnishes

material or labor.

5. All included drawings represent approximate dimensions and conditions.

The contractor shall verify all dimensions and conditions affecting their

work with the actual conditions at the project site. Any discrepancies shall

be immediately reported to the owner's representative before any work is

performed; otherwise, the contractor assumes full responsibility.  In the

event of discrepancies or omissions in the plans or specifications, the

contractor shall obtain written instructions from the owner's representative

prior to proceeding with any part of the work affected.  Failure to obtain
such instruction will result in the contractor proceeding at his own risk and

expense.

6. All overhead and underground utilities are to be located prior to digging or

excavation. The contractor shall contact Joint Utility Locating Information

for Excavators (J.U.L.I.E.) prior to the start of work. If utilities or other

obstructions are discovered to conflict with grading, plant or materials

placement, notify the owner's representative prior to proceeding.

7. The contractor shall take all precautions to protect existing vegetation,

lawn areas, fences, structures, paving, and water bodies designated to

remain. Any damage to these existing areas or features shall be replaced or

repaired by the contractor at the contractor's expense and as approved by

the owner's representative. Damaged lawn areas shall be tilled, re-graded,

topsoil added as needed and be restored with sod. Replaced/repaired

existing site features shall be warranted by the contractor for a period of one

(1) year.

8. Provide positive drainage at all times. Do not obstruct the natural or

engineered drainage flow pattern. Notify the owner's representative of any

drainage concerns.

9. If, during construction operations, any loose material is deposited in the flow

line of gutters, drainage structures, swales, ditches, etc. such that the natural

flow line of water is obstructed in any way, this loose material shall be

removed at the close of each day by the responsible party.  At the

conclusion of construction operations all drainage structures and flow lines

shall be free from dirt and debris.  This work shall be considered incidental

to the contract.

1. All plants must be specimen quality and of the quantity, size, genus,

species, and variety shown and scheduled for landscape work and must

comply with recommendations and requirements of the American

Standard for Nursery Stock (ANSI Z60.1). Prior to shipping, verify that

plants are healthy and vigorous, available at the specified nursery and

free of disease, insects, eggs, larvae, and defects such as knots, sun scald,

injuries, abrasions, or disfigurement. Plants that are not specimen quality

will be rejected.

2. All plants must have been locally grown by a nursery within 100 miles of

the project site.

3. Plant substitutions may be permitted only upon submission of written

proof that specified plant is not locally obtainable. Such substitution may

be made upon written authorization by the owner’s representative.

4. Provide and update installation schedule for duration of project to ensure

quality landscape installation within appropriate season of planting.

Include dates for milestone reviews with owner’s representative.

Contractor to notify Owner’s Representative of procurement, phasing,

sequencing issues which impact meeting landscape milestones and assist

with problem resolution.

5. Preparation for Delivery:

5.1. Balled & Burlapped (B&B) Plants:

5.1.1. Dig and prepare for shipment in a manner that will not damage

roots, branches, shape, or future development of plant.

5.1.2. Originate from soil which will hold good ball when wrapped
with burlap or similar material, bound with twine or cord so as to

hold balls firm and intact.

5.1.3. Ball sizes: Not less than standard established by ANSI Z60.1.

5.1.4. Drumlace plants 2 in. in caliper and greater. Provide protective

metal basket as needed to protect root ball.

5.2. Potted or Container Plants:

5.2.1. Provide container to hold ball shape protecting root mass during

delivery and handling.

5.2.2. Roots must comprise greater than 70% of the potted soil

volume. Plants with insufficient size or root volume may be

rejected.

6. Delivery:

6.1. Inspection:

6.1.1. Upon delivery and before planting, request inspection of plants

by owner’s representative. Plants rejected on site must be

replaced with plants as approved by the owner's representative,

at no additional cost to the contract.

6.1.2. Inspection and approval is for quality, size, and variety only and

in no way impairs right of rejection for failure to meet other

requirements during progress of Work. Contractor must be

present during required inspection or as may be required by

owner’s representative.

6.1.3. The owner's representative retains the right to inspect trees and

shrubs for size and condition of balls and root systems, insects,

injuries, and latent defects, and to reject material damaged
during transit and staging. Rejected plants must be removed

immediately from the project site and replaced from approved

sources. Replacement plants must receive maintenance as

required for plant establishment, and must be installed and show

signs of establishment prior to project inspection.

6.1.4. Take precautions in accordance with best trade practices to

ensure arrival of plant material at job site in good condition and

without injury. Cover plants to prevent drying, disease or injury.

6.1.5. Plants must be provided to the site in a moist and turgid state. Do

not prune woody plants prior to delivery unless approved. Do not

bend or bind tie trees or shrubs in such manner as to damage

bark, break branches, or destroy natural shape. Provide

protective covering during delivery and installation. Do not

mishandle balled and burlapped stock during delivery and

staging.

6.1.6. Notify owner’s representative a minimum of 24 hours before

delivery of plant material. Failure to notify owner’s

representative in advance, in order to arrange proper scheduling

may result in loss of time or removal of plant or plants not

installed as specified or directed.

7. On-Site Storage:

7.1. Set plants which are not to be planted within 4 hours in a temporary

nursery area, on ground and heal-in with peat, soil, mulch or other

media. Construct and maintain this area as needed, protecting plants

and materials from damage and theft. Irrigate plants as required. Do

not remove container grown stock from containers until planting

time. Plants will be rejected if a decline due to stress resulting from

improper maintenance, including maintenance of adequate

protected nursery conditions, is observed.

7.2. Protect roots of plant material from drying or other possible injury.

7.3. Water plants as necessary until planted.

7.4. Plants must not remain unplanted for longer than 3 days.

7.5. Handle plants with care. Do not drop material. Trees and shrubs will

be rejected due to mishandling and damage to rootballs. Move large

trees only with proper equipment and by experienced, qualified

operators

8. Job Conditions

8.1. Planting Season

8.1.1. Spring Planting: From time soil becomes workable through June

15. Fall Planting: September 1 to November 15. Plant evergreen

shrub plantings no later than November 1, and evergreen tree

plantings no later than October 15.

8.1.2. Summer Season: June 2 through August 31. Planting during this

season must receive approval by owner’s representative one

month in advance, prior to commencing. Approval to plant

under such conditions shall not relieve contractor from

provisions of these specifications.

8.1.3. Container Plants: Planting season designated above may be

extended for container grown plants when approved by owner’s

representative.

8.1.4. Provide necessary maintenance and watering as required by

planting season, to ensure specified quality of planting, at no

additional cost to this contract.

8.2. Plant only when weather and soil conditions are suitable, in

accordance with best practices of the industry.

8.3. Existing Vegetation:

8.3.1. Contractor shall review existing vegetation and site conditions

prior to bid.

8.3.2. Ensure new perennial planting areas are weed-free prior to
plant installation.

8.3.3. Protection:

8.3.1.1. Protect planted areas against damage by other activity or

work as needed (see General Notes #7).

8.3.1.2. Protect existing trees and vegetation near grading work as

needed with approved temporary fencing through Project

Acceptance.

9. Plant Material

9.1. Plants must be freshly dug or container-grown. No heeled-in plants

or plants for cold storage will be accepted, except as otherwise

specified, unless contractor makes such request in writing and plants

are inspected and approved.

9.2. Trees which have damaged or crooked leader, or multiple leaders,

are not acceptable unless specifically specified. Trees with abrasion

of bark, sun scalds, disfiguring knots, or fresh cuts of limbs over 1-1/4
in., which have not completely calloused, are not acceptable.

9.3. Measure plants when branches are in their normal position. Height
and spread refer to plant's main body and not from branch tip to

branch tip.

9.4. Take caliper measurement at point on trunk 6 in. above natural

ground line for trees up to 4 in. in caliper and at point 12 in. above

natural ground line for trees 4 in. and over in caliper.

9.5. Measurements specified are minimum size acceptable and are

measurements after pruning, where pruning is required. Plants
meeting measurements specified, but not producing normal balance

between height and spread, are not acceptable and will be replaced

at contractor’s expense.

9.6. Shrubs must be matched specimens from single block source.

9.7. Plants must be true to species and variety and must conform to

measurement specified in Plant List except that plants larger than

specified may be used if approved by owner’s representative. Use of

such plants must not result in increase in contract price. If larger

plants are approved, increase ball of earth in proportion to size of

plant.

9.8. Where plants larger than specified have been submitted in writing

for approval and approved in writing by owner’s representative,

contractor must assume responsibility of Warranty for plant in size as

planted.

9.9. Basal flare for trees and shrubs must be located within the top 1-2” of

the tree ball, with soil removed from flare at time of planting to set

correct planting depth. Trees shipped with the basal flare below this

dimension may be rejected pending owner’s representative review,

and replaced at no added cost to this contract. Do not shave tree

balls.

9.10. Container grown plants must have heavy fibrous root system, or well

developed taproot, that has been developed by proper horticultural

practice including transplanting and root pruning. Root system must

have developed sufficiently long for new fibrous roots to develop so

root mass will retain its shape and hold together when removed from

container. In no case should container strangle or girdle natural

growth of plant.

9.11. Multistem tree plantings must have minimum three main trunks,

from which even branching occurs, providing an evenly vegetated

appearance.

9.12. Perennial, forbs, and grasses specified as "container" or "pot" must be

provided as container grown plants, or must be provided with firm

natural balls of earth with diameter and depth in accordance with

American Standard for Nursery Stock for size specified on plant

schedule.

10. Landscape Materials

10.1. Water: existing water supply from existing source approved by

owner's representative may be used for all planting operations.

Provide hose and equipment necessary for proper watering of plant

material. Import water at no extra cost if it is not available at the

project site

10.2. Mulch: Shredded Hardwood Bark from mixed hardwood species and

free of sticks, weeds, leaves and wood chips, 60% must range

between 1 and 3 in. in length; remaining 40% shall not exceed 1-1/2

in.

10.3. Drainage Stone: Free draining aggregate meeting requirements of

IDOT CA7 and having a pH of 5.5 - 7.

10.4. Protection Fencing: Provide 4’ height temporary snow fencing as

needed to protect existing trees and other vegetation, staked
adequately for safety. Fence must be maintained in a safe and

durable condition during construction. Remove fence when directed

by the owner’s representative.

11. Execution

11.1. Contractor shall coordinate an on-site pre-construciton meeting

with the owner's representative prior to the start of any work to

review contract documents and schedule.

11.2. Prior to plant installation, contractor shall mark locations of trees and

mass plantings based on the plans for owner's representative

approval. Any field adjustments to marked locations prior to plant

installation shall be at the discretion of the owner's representative.

11.3. Do not install plantings where depth of soil over underground

construction, obstructions or rock is insufficient to accommodate roots

or where pockets in rock or impervious soil will require drainage.

Where such conditions encountered in excavation planting areas

and where stone, boulders or other obstruction cannot be broken or

removed by hand methods and where trees to be planted found

below overhead wires, bring to the attention of the owner’s
representative. Alternate locations for planting may be designated

by owner’s representative.

11.4. Clear and grub soil, prepare reuse of existing planting soil, ensuring

new perennial planting areas are weed-free. Treat soil with

herbicide, repeat treatment if needed, to remove weeds prior to
planting.

11.5. Subsoil preparation: Loosen subsoil if heavily compacted, as to

impede soil drainage, air infiltration, and proper root development of

plants.

11.6. When landscape work is substantially completed, the owner’s

representative will make an inspection to determine acceptability.

Issues of concern by either party will be written down and filed with

project record.

12. Installation

12.1. Excavation for Planting

12.1.1. Excavate circular pits with vertical side for plants; diameter of

pits for trees must be at least 2 ft greater than diameter of ball, or

container.

12.1.2. Depth of pits for trees must be as indicated. Excavate to greater

depth as suitable to accommodate ball, container or bare roots

when plant is set to finish grade allowing for 6 in. of compacted,

prepared soil in bottom of pit.

12.1.3. When planting in heavy clay soils, place basal flare of tree 3”
above finished grade to ensure ball drainage. Feather edges of

ball to match finished grade.

12.1.4. Dispose of excavated material not suitable for backfilling offsite

in legal manner.

12.2. Setting and Backfilling Plants

12.2.1. Balled & Burlapped (B&B) Plants:

12.2.1.1. Set balled and burlapped stock on layer of

hand-compacted soil, plumb and in proper alignment, with

top of ball and basal flare approximately 3”above adjacent

finished landscape grades. Remove burlap, twine, and pins

from top half of rootball, retain on bottoms. Remove top 1/3
of wire basket. When plant is set, place additional backfill

around base and sides of ball, and work each layer to settle

backfill and eliminate voids and air pockets. When

excavation is approximately two thirds full, fill excavation

with water and let drain before placing remainder of

backfill. Construct 4” to 6” height earthen watering saucer

at perimeter of ball, firmed to resist erosion, and water

completed planting thoroughly.

12.2.1.2. Backfill planting pits with top soil in 12-in. layers and tamp

each layer to fill voids until planting mixture is at final

grade.

12.2.1.3. Mulch individual tree watering saucers at time of

installation. Dish top of backfill to allow for mulch. Maintain

the proper configuration of mulch ring and depth of mulch

through the Warranty Period.

12.2.1.4. Remove nursery plant identification tags following

approval of owner’s representative.

12.2.1.5. Where required, guy and stake trees immediately after

planting.

12.2.2. Container Grown Plants:

12.2.2.1. Open and remove potted plants from containers.

12.2.2.2. If growing medium is comprised of 75% or more of peat,

perlite, sand or like material other than soil, pull visible
roots away from container medium so as to leave roots

partially exposed.

12.2.2.3. Place plants in plant pit or trench and carefully backfill

with top soil among exposed roots. Continue backfilling and

tamping in 6-in. layers until top soil is at final grade. Place

plant firmly into soil to stabilize and ensure direct soil

contact with roots.

12.2.2.4. Remove nursery plant identification tags following

approval of owner’s representative.

12.3. Pruning

12.3.1. Prune trees and shrubs at time of or after planting. Pruning and

repair of existing trees designated to remain shall be performed

by a qualified technician.

12.3.2. Prune in accordance with standard horticultural practices to

retain natural habit and shape of plant. Shearing of plants will

not be accepted, unless directed by owner's representative.

Preserve leader(s) promoting symmetrical growth on multiple
leader plants.

12.3.3. Prune and trim dead wood, suckers, and injured twigs and

branches.

12.3.4. Use only clean, sharp tools.

12.3.5. Make cuts flush and clean avoiding injury to branch bark ridge

or branch collar leaving no stubs.

12.3.6. For cuts greater than 3/4 in. in diameter and bruises or scars on

bark, trace injured cambium back to living tissue and remove.

Smooth and shape wounds so as not to retain water.

12.3.7. Prune flowering trees only to remove dead or damaged
branches. Do not remove leader.

13. Protection and Maintenance

13.1. Mulching:

13.1.1. Mulch within five days after installation.

13.1.2. Mulch planting beds as each is finished, and mulch each tree

after it is planted. Only plant areas which will be mulched and

watered the same day. Soil must be moist before mulching. Do

not fill in watering saucers level with mulch, but follow soil

contour to preserve function of saucer. Keep mulch completely
away from tree trunks for a distance of six inches. To prevent

suffocation, elevate stems of recumbent shrubs and groundcovers

and place mulch beneath. Provide the following thickness of

mulch:

13.1.2.1. For trees, provide a minimum 3-inch thickness of shredded

hardwood bark.

13.1.2.2. For shrub masses, provide a 2-inch thickness of shredded

hardwood bark mulch.

13.1.2.3. “Volcano” mulching will be rejected.

13.1.2.4. Mulch perennial and grass beds only with leaf mulch.

13.2. Watering:

13.2.1. Thoroughly water immediately after installation

13.2.2. Contractor shall water thoroughly during plant establishment

period while on-site. Assess site and planting bed soil conditions

as part of this work.

13.2.3. Reducing watering as warranted through plant establishment

requirements. Provide water in times of heat or drought as
needed for plants for healthy growth.

13.2.4. Provide staffing as needed to water and maintain plantings as

the installation area increases.

13.3. Clean Up and Restoration:

13.3.1. Restore surrounding areas of jobsite, disrupted by the Landscape

Work, including delivery routes, to the original condition, or

alternate condition as directed by the owner’s representative.

13.3.2. Remove soil or similar material brought onto paved areas,

keeping these areas clean.

13.3.3. Upon completion of planting, remove excess soil, stones, and

debris and dispose of off-site in legal manner.

14. Project Acceptance

14.1. Planting Acceptance: Upon substantial completion of the project,

the owner’s representative will inspect landscape work for

acceptance.

14.1.1. Acceptance requirements:

14.1.1.1. Inspection must take place while plants are in full leaf.

14.1.1.2. Planting beds must meet finished/existing grades and drain

as required.

14.1.1.3. Plant material must conform to drawings with respect to

quantity, quality, size, species, and location, except those

items accepted or revised in field by owner’s representative.

14.1.1.4. Plants must be properly mulched.

14.1.1.5. Plant material must be in healthy, established growing

condition as defined under Warranty Requirements below.

14.1.1.6. Items must appear to be in general conformance with

specifications.

14.1.1.7. Plantings must be established and able to survive through
the remainder of the season without watering provided by

the Contractor.

15. Warranty Period

15.1. The Warranty Period begins upon Project Acceptance and written

notification of Project Acceptance by the owner's representative.

15.2. During Warranty Period, Contractor must provide deep watering at

beginning of Spring, and seasonal watering of trees, woody plants,
perennial and grass beds while on-site to prevent plants from going

into dormancy in periods of drought or low rain, as part of this work.

15.3. Contractor must Warranty for period of one year from the date of

Project Acceptance, replacement of plant which had died, or is in

dying condition, or which has failed to flourish in such manner that

its usefulness or appearance has been impaired. Remove dead plants

within 4 weeks of verification by Owner’s Representative, and

replace within appropriate planting season. Replace any tree with

dead main leader or crown which is 25% or more dead. Contractor

to provide an extended Warranty for replaced plants, one year from

the day of planting, and provide necessary maintenance for

establishment.

15.4. Exclusions:

15.4.1. Contractor is not liable for replacement of plants damaged by

deicing compounds,

15.4.2. fertilizers, pesticides or other materials not applied by the

contractor.

15.4.3. Contractor is not liable for replacement of plants due to acts of
vandalism, or acts of God.

15.4.4. Inspection of Maintenance:

15.4.4.1. During Warranty period, Contractor must, from time to

time, inspect watering, cultivation, and other maintenance

operations carried on by Owner with respect to such work,

and promptly report to Owner any methods, practices or

operations considered unsatisfactory and not in accord with

interests or good horticultural practices. Provide copy of

notification and photographs to Owner’s Representative

should Contractor have concerns related to Warranty

responsibilities.

15.4.5. Remove and replace trees, shrubs, or other plants found to be

dead or in unhealthy condition, or do not conform to minimum

form and size standards for each species during the Warranty

Period. Make replacements during the appropriate growing

season prior to the end of the Warranty Period and provide one

year extended Warranty for replaced plants.

15.4.6. Notify Owner’s Representative to perform Final Warranty

Inspection. Owner’s Representative will provide in writing

verification of completed work following conformance to project

requirements.

16. Replacements

16.1. Plants which die or require replacement for other reasons during

one-year Warranty period must be replaced as soon as possible

during following acceptable planting seasons:

16.1.1. Spring Replacement Season: All plants - when ground becomes

workable to June 15.

16.1.2. Fall Replacement Season:

16.1.2.1. Deciduous plants - September 1 to November 15.

16.2. Procedure:

16.2.1. Dispose of plants off-site in legal manner.

16.2.2. Replacements must be of same size and species as original plant

unless otherwise approved by owner’s representative.

16.2.3. Replacements must be supplied and installed in accordance

with specifications.

16.2.4. Additional one-year Warranty for replacement plants shall

begin on date of final acceptance of plant material by owner’s

representative as documented in field report.

16.2.5. Replacement and Damages:

16.2.5.1. Decisions of owner’s representative for required

replacements shall be conclusive and binding upon

contractor.

16.2.5.2. Contractor must be responsible for repairing damage to

property also caused by defective workmanship and

materials.

16.2.5.3. Plant materials must be approved prior to shipment to site.

GENERAL NOTES PLANTING NOTES

PERENNIAL / GROUNDCOVER

15" ON CENTER

AND MIX w/ TOPSOIL TO 6" DEPTH
PREPARE BED WITH COMPOST, CULTIVATE

GROUNDCOVER WITHIN CONTAINER TO BE SEPARATED.

DETAIL

PLANT GROUNDCOVER ON ITS SIDE TO PLANTING BED

SUBGRADE

TOPSOIL

TO ALLOW FOR ROOTING OF VINES.

AMEND SOIL 6" DEPTH BEFORE PLANTING

PERENNIAL / GROUNDCOVER

ALL GROUND COVER / PERENNIALS / ANNUAL FLOWERS 

4" / 6" ON CENTER (VARIES)

12" ON CENTER
SHALL BE PLANTED USING TRIANGULAR SPACING.

ANNUAL FLOWERS:

GROUNDCOVERS:

PERENNIALS:

NOTE:

DETAIL - TRIANGULAR SPACING

6"
 D

EP
TH

FOR ALL PLANTING BEDS
MIN. 18" DEPTH OF TOPSOIL
EXCAVATOR TO PROVIDE 

18"

EQUAL SPACE - SEE CHART

SHRUB ROOT BALL SHALL BEAR SAME RELATION TO FINISH GRADE

REMOVE BURLAP FROM

WOOD MULCH ( 3" DEPTH )

SCARIFY BOTTOM 4" OF SHRUB PIT

BACKFILL w/ NATIVE SOIL

DETAIL

TOP 1/3 OF BALL

3" CONTINUOUS RIM
FORM SAUCER WITH

REMOVE AIR POCKETS
TOPSOIL

TAMP & WATER TO

AS IT BORE TO PREVIOUSLY EXISTING GRADE.

PRUNE 1/3 OF SHRUB TO OFFSET ROOT LOSS

FOR ALL SHRUB PLANTING BEDS
MIN. 18" DEPTH OF TOPSOIL
EXCAVATOR TO PROVIDE 

SUBGRADE

ALL SIDES 6"

18"

REMOVE AIR POCKETS
TAMP & WATER TO
BACKFILL w/ NATIVE SOIL

3" CONTINUOUS RIM
FORM SAUCER WITH

SCARIFY BOTTOM 4" OF TREE PIT

WITH TWINE.
TREE WRAP SECURED

WOOD MULCH ( 3" DEPTH )

TOP 1/3 OF BALL
REMOVE BURLAP FROM

ALL SIDES 12"

SUBGRADE

TREE ROOT BALL SHALL BEAR SAME 

TO PREVIOUSLY EXISTING GRADE.
RELATION TO FINISH GRADE AS IT BORE

PRUNE TREE TO OFFSET ROOT LOSS

Existing Soil

Rain Garden Plants
TBD by Landscape Architect

Amended Soil Fill 12" depth
(50%Sand  25%Topsoil  25%Compost /Peat Moss Mix)

S C A L E   I N   F E E T
1"=20'-0"

0 20' 40 60'10'

N

This drawing is the property of ILT Vignocchi and cannot be used for any purpose without the written

consent of ILT Vignocchi.  ILT Vignocchi reserves the right to substitute plant material varieties based on

availability.
General Notes: Verify site conditions and information on drawings.  ILT Vignocchi (Landscape Architect)  does not warrant or
guarantee the accuracy and completeness of the work provided  within the Contract Documents beyond a reasonable diligence.  If
any mistakes, omissions  or discrepancies are found to exist within the Contract Documents or on the project site  pertaining to the
Landscape and Irrigation Construction of this project, then ILT Vignocchi  shall be promptly notified so that ILT Vignocchi may have the
opportunity to take necessary  steps to resolve discrepancies.  Failure to promptly notify ILT Vignocchi of such conditions shall  absolve
ILT Vignocchi from any responsibility for the consequences of such failure.  Actions  taken without the knowledge or consent of ILT
Vignocchi, or in contradiction to ILT Vignocchi's  Contract Documents or recommendations shall become the responsibility not of ILT
Vignocchi,  but of the parties responsible for the taking of such action.

25865 West Ivanhoe Road Design By:  az

Wauconda, Illinois 60084 Project No.  19-5-104

ph. 847.487.5200         fax. 847.487.5265 Sheet No.   L-1
www.iltvignocchi.com

Detail Sheet

FOR:

ISSUE DATE:

25865 West Ivanhoe Road     Wauconda, Il  60084
Phone: 847.487.5200                     Fax: 847487-5265

3/18/19
REVISIONS:

DATE: DESCRIPTION:

APPROVED BY: az

Lincolnshire Animal Hospital
420 Half Day Road
Lincolnshire, IL 60069

Notes:
1.The contractor shall verify all dimensions and conditions affecting their work with
the actual conditions at the project site. Any discrepancies shall be immediately
reported to the Landscape Architect before any work is performed; otherwise, the
contractor assumes full responsibility.  In the event of discrepancies or omissions in
the plans or specifications, the contractor shall obtain written instructions from the
Landscape Architect prior to proceeding with any part of the work affected.
Failure to obtain such instruction will result in the contractor proceeding at his own
risk and expense.
2.All work performed under this contract shall be guaranteed against defect in
materials and workmanship.
3.When the plans include information pertaining to the location of underground
facilities, such information represents only the opinion of the Landscape Architect
as to the location of such utilities and is only included for the convenience of the
contractor.  The owner and Landscape Architect assume no responsibility in
respect to the sufficiency or accuracy of the information shown on the plans
relative to the location of underground utility facilities or the manner in which they
are to be removed or adjusted.  It shall be the contractor's responsibility to
determine the actual location of all such facilities.
4. The contractor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the owner, municipality,
and landscape architect from all liability and expenses including the cost of legal
defense arising out of the performance of the work or out of any claim by any
subcontractor or anyone who furnishes material or labor.
5.If, during construction operations, any loose material is deposited in the flow line
of gutters, drainage structures, swales, ditches, etc. such that the natural flow line
of water is obstructed in any way, this loose material shall be removed at the close
of each day by the responsible party.  At the conclusion of construction operations
all drainage structures and flow lines shall be free from dirt and debris.  This work
shall be considered incidental to the contract.
6. Failure of contractor to agree to these conditions, as indicated by signature and
date below, will render this drawing set null and void, and will fully indemnify ILT
Vignocchi of any and all liability claims relating to construction of any and all
portions or elements set forth in drawing set.

Contractor Agreement
I certify under penalty of law that I understand and agree to all terms and
conditions set forth in this contract.
Contractor Name:________________________________________________________
Company:_______________________________________________________________
Address:__________________________________________________________________
Phone:____________________________________________________________________
Dated:___________________________________________________________________

Page No.

L4
Page Title:
Detail Sheet

1 TREE PLANTING DETAIL
N.T.S.

2
SHRUB PLANTING DETAIL (B&B)
N.T.S.

3
PERENNIAL PLANTING DETAIL
N.T.S.

4
DETENTION BASIN PLANTING DETAIL
N.T.S.



6
'
-
0
"

20'-0"

2
0
'
-
0
"

20'-0"

2
0
'
-
0
"

PA

3

PA

4

CO

1

RG
14

RG

16

QI

1

GR

48

HH

50

GI

1

GR
39

CL

49

RV

50

FI
20

AM

21

NW

29

TD

6

VD
19

AA
1

Forbs Mixture

Mixture not exceeding 5% by PLS weight of any one species of the following:

Lead Plant Butterfly Weed

Smooth Aster White Wild Indigo

Prairie Coreopsis Rattlesnake Master

Ox-Eye Rough Blazing Star

Prairie Bergamont Louse Wart

Purple Prairie Clover Prairie Cinquefoil

Fragrant Coneflower Prairie Dock

Spiderwort Thimble Weed

Sky Blue Aster New England Aster

New Jersey Tea Pale Purple Coneflower

Downy Sunflower Alum Root

Prairie Blazing Star Wild Quinine

White Prairie Clover False Dragonhead

Yellow Coneflower Compass Plant

Rigid Goldenrod Culver's Root

DEPRESSIONAL STORAGE PLANT MIX 2,104 sf
-

PLANTS -  PLUGS - 12" SPACING

TREES CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME CONT CAL SIZE

AA 1 Acer rubrum `Autumn Blaze` / Autumn Blaze Red Maple B & B 3"Cal

CO 1 Celtis occidentalis / Common Hackberry B & B 3"Cal

GI 1 Gleditsia triacanthos inermis / Thornless Common Honeylocust B & B 3"Cal

PA 7 Picea abies / Norway Spruce B & B 10`

QI 1 Quercus imbricaria / Shingle Oak B & B 3"Cal

TD 6 Taxodium distichum / Bald Cypress B & B 3"Cal

SHRUBS CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE FIELD2 FIELD3

FI 20 Forsythia x intermedia / Border Forsythia 36" 48" Spacing

RG 30 Rhus aromatica `Gro-Low` / Gro-Low Fragrant Sumac 5 gal 36" Spacing

VD 19 Viburnum dentatum `Arrowwood` / Arrowwood Viburnum 36" 48" Spacing

ANNUALS/PERENNIALS CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE FIELD2 FIELD3

AM 21 Allium x `Millenium` / Millenium Ornamental Chive 1 gal 18" Spacing

GR 87 Geranium x `Rozanne` TM / Hybrid Cranesbill 1 gal 18" Spacing

HH 50 Hemerocallis x `Chicago Fire` / Chicago Fire Daylily 1 gal 18" Spacing

NW 29 Nepeta x faassenii `Walkers Low` / Walkers Low Catmint 1 gal 18" Spacing

RV 50 Rudbeckia fulgida speciosa `Viette`s Little Suzy` / Coneflower 1 gal 18" Spacing

GRASSES CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME / COMMON NAME SIZE FIELD2 FIELD3

CL 49 Chasmanthium latifolium / Wood Oats 1 gal 18" Spacing

PLANT SCHEDULE

S C A L E   I N   F E E T
1"=20'-0"

0 20' 40 60'10'

N

This drawing is the property of ILT Vignocchi and cannot be used for any purpose without the written

consent of ILT Vignocchi.  ILT Vignocchi reserves the right to substitute plant material varieties based on

availability.
General Notes: Verify site conditions and information on drawings.  ILT Vignocchi (Landscape Architect)  does not warrant or
guarantee the accuracy and completeness of the work provided  within the Contract Documents beyond a reasonable diligence.  If
any mistakes, omissions  or discrepancies are found to exist within the Contract Documents or on the project site  pertaining to the
Landscape and Irrigation Construction of this project, then ILT Vignocchi  shall be promptly notified so that ILT Vignocchi may have the
opportunity to take necessary  steps to resolve discrepancies.  Failure to promptly notify ILT Vignocchi of such conditions shall  absolve
ILT Vignocchi from any responsibility for the consequences of such failure.  Actions  taken without the knowledge or consent of ILT
Vignocchi, or in contradiction to ILT Vignocchi's  Contract Documents or recommendations shall become the responsibility not of ILT
Vignocchi,  but of the parties responsible for the taking of such action.

25865 West Ivanhoe Road Design By:  az

Wauconda, Illinois 60084 Project No.  19-5-104

ph. 847.487.5200         fax. 847.487.5265 Sheet No.   L-1
www.iltvignocchi.com

Color Rendering

FOR:

ISSUE DATE:

25865 West Ivanhoe Road     Wauconda, Il  60084
Phone: 847.487.5200                     Fax: 847487-5265

3/18/19
REVISIONS:

DATE: DESCRIPTION:

APPROVED BY: az

Lincolnshire Animal Hospital
420 Half Day Road
Lincolnshire, IL 60069

Notes:
1.The contractor shall verify all dimensions and conditions affecting their work with
the actual conditions at the project site. Any discrepancies shall be immediately
reported to the Landscape Architect before any work is performed; otherwise, the
contractor assumes full responsibility.  In the event of discrepancies or omissions in
the plans or specifications, the contractor shall obtain written instructions from the
Landscape Architect prior to proceeding with any part of the work affected.
Failure to obtain such instruction will result in the contractor proceeding at his own
risk and expense.
2.All work performed under this contract shall be guaranteed against defect in
materials and workmanship.
3.When the plans include information pertaining to the location of underground
facilities, such information represents only the opinion of the Landscape Architect
as to the location of such utilities and is only included for the convenience of the
contractor.  The owner and Landscape Architect assume no responsibility in
respect to the sufficiency or accuracy of the information shown on the plans
relative to the location of underground utility facilities or the manner in which they
are to be removed or adjusted.  It shall be the contractor's responsibility to
determine the actual location of all such facilities.
4. The contractor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the owner, municipality,
and landscape architect from all liability and expenses including the cost of legal
defense arising out of the performance of the work or out of any claim by any
subcontractor or anyone who furnishes material or labor.
5.If, during construction operations, any loose material is deposited in the flow line
of gutters, drainage structures, swales, ditches, etc. such that the natural flow line
of water is obstructed in any way, this loose material shall be removed at the close
of each day by the responsible party.  At the conclusion of construction operations
all drainage structures and flow lines shall be free from dirt and debris.  This work
shall be considered incidental to the contract.
6. Failure of contractor to agree to these conditions, as indicated by signature and
date below, will render this drawing set null and void, and will fully indemnify ILT
Vignocchi of any and all liability claims relating to construction of any and all
portions or elements set forth in drawing set.

Contractor Agreement
I certify under penalty of law that I understand and agree to all terms and
conditions set forth in this contract.
Contractor Name:________________________________________________________
Company:_______________________________________________________________
Address:__________________________________________________________________
Phone:____________________________________________________________________
Dated:___________________________________________________________________

Page No.

L5
Page Title:
Color Rendering

Taxodium distichum

Picea abies

Rhus aromatica 'Gro-Low'

Celtis occidentalis

Acer rubrum 'Autumn Blaze'

Geranium x 'Rozanne'

Rudbeckia fulgida speciosa 'Viette's Little Suzy'

Forsythia x intermedia

Chasmanthium latifolium

Allium x 'Millenium'

Nepeta x faassenii 'Walkers Low'

Quercus imbricaria

Viburnum dentatum 'Arrowwood'

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/F 668.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS ROUTE 22

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE DEPRESSIONAL STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2,800 CF

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM 665.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLASS 5B WETLAND FORB MIXTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
Granite Cobbles (to match existing)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pet Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pet Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text
Concrete Walkway

AutoCAD SHX Text
Native Area to Remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
Native Area to Remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
Native Area to Remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
Granite Cobbles (to match existing)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Existing Redbud to Remain (root prune as needed)



GENERAL NOTES
ELECTRICAL SYMBOL LIST ELECTRICAL DRAWING LISTABBREVIATIONS

ISSUED:

LI
N

C
O

LN
SH

IR
E 

A
N

IM
A

L 
H

O
SP

IT
A

L
LI

N
C

O
LN

SH
IR

E,
 IL

 6
00

69

19.MJA.001

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 S

IT
E 

PL
A

N

42
0 

H
A

LF
 D

A
Y

 R
D

.
M

G
H

 
C

o
n

s
u

l
t
i
n

g
 
E

n
g

i
n

e
e
r
s
,
 
L

L
C

L
I
C

E
N

S
E

 
N

O
.
 
1
8
4
.
0
0
7
3
9
2
-
0
0
0
2

4
0
9
 
S

.
 
H

i
g

h
l
a
n

d
 
A

v
e
.
 
A

r
l
i
n

g
t
o

n
 
H

e
i
g

h
t
s
,
 
I
L

 
6
0
0
0
5

m
h

e
r
n

a
n

d
e
z
@

m
g

h
e
n

g
i
n

e
e
r
i
n

g
.
c
o

m
 
 
P

h
o

n
e
:
 
7
7
3
.
3
1
4
.
7
8
1
9

G
EN

ER
A

L 
EL

EC
TR

IC
A

L
N

O
TE

S,
 S

Y
M

B
O

L 
LI

ST
 &

D
ET

A
IL

S

E-0



0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

1.9

1.2

0.3

0.2

0.9

1.9

1.1

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

2.7

17.0

7.7

0.5

0.3

4.3

13.7

6.0

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

2.5

14.2

6.7

0.5

0.4

3.9

11.6

5.3

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.6

1.4

1.0

0.4

0.4

0.8

1.4

0.9

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

1.1

1.5

0.6

0.2

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.7

6.9

14.6

2.6

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

7.8

16.9

2.9

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.6

2.2

0.9

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.6

1.9

1.1

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.6

1.9

2.0

1.8

7.5

14.7

3.3

0.6

0.2

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.5

2.1

2.7

3.1

3.0

2.5

9.7

3.9

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.6

2.3

3.1

4.0

4.3

4.1

3.3

4.4

4.7

1.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.4

1.9

2.7

3.6

3.9

5.2

5.7

4.6

4.9

4.4

1.9

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.3

1.9

2.8

4.1

5.9

6.9

5.6

6.7

7.0

6.3

3.3

3.1

1.1

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.9

1.3

1.9

2.8

4.0

5.7

8.0

10.0

12.7

9.8

4.7

10.2

3.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.9

1.3

2.0

2.9

4.2

6.0

7.9

7.0

9.0

9.2

5.1

7.8

13.8

2.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.1

1.6

2.3

3.4

4.5

4.5

5.6

5.6

4.9

6.1

4.3

2.0

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.4

2.0

2.7

3.5

4.5

4.9

4.6

3.7

3.8

2.7

0.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.3

1.8

2.5

3.2

3.6

3.4

2.6

2.5

2.4

1.4

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.3

1.6

2.0

2.4

2.3

2.0

5.3

8.8

2.7

0.6

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.5

10.7

4.4

3.6

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.2

5.0

9.3

2.3

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.7

2.7

4.2

1.3

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.8

10.2

14.1

3.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.7

5.5

11.5

2.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.9

2.1

1.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

2.8

7.9

0.7

0.5

0.7

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

2.6

14.3

6.8

0.6

1.0

7.7

8.5

1.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.7

1.4

1.0

0.4

1.3

14.0

15.9

1.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.6

2.8

3.0

0.6

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.4

0.5

0.9

0.7

0.3

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.8

5.6

7.3

1.3

0.4

1.9

10.6

6.0

0.7

1.9

11.0

6.6

0.6

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.9

11.1

1.7

0.5

2.9

11.4

0.9

2.4

10.2

0.8

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.8

5.1

6.5

1.4

0.5

1.3

4.2

3.0

0.7

1.0

3.0

2.1

0.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.5

1.8

2.0

2.1

2.0

1.8

1.5

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.3

1.8

2.8

3.0

3.4

3.1

2.9

2.0

1.4

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.6

1.0

1.3

1.6

2.2

3.3

4.0

4.3

4.1

3.5

2.3

1.7

1.4

1.1

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

1.9

2.5

2.9

3.5

3.7

4.6

3.7

3.6

3.0

2.6

2.0

1.2

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

1.5

2.9

4.1

5.3

4.9

6.8

5.1

5.4

4.2

3.0

1.7

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.6

0.8

1.3

1.7

2.5

1.8

1.5

0.9

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Description Avg Max Min Avg/MinMax/Min

SITE PHOTOMETRIC STATISTICS 

ALL SITE
0.6fc 17.0fc 0.0fc

WEST PARKING AREA 1.8fc 12.7fc 0.3fc

N/A N/A

42.3:1 6.0:1

FRONT PARKING AREA 2.1fc 11.4fc 0.4fc 28.5:1 5.3:1

NORTH PARKING AREA 0.0fc 0.0fc 0.0fc N/A N/A

WALKING PATH 5.6fc 16.9fc 0.5fc 33.8:1 11.2:1

LIGHTING FIXTURE SCHEDULE (PROVIDE SPECIFIED OR APPROVED EQUAL)

SECTION A-A

NOT TO SCALE

SECTION A-A

NOT TO SCALE

ISSUED:

LI
N

C
O

LN
SH

IR
E 

A
N

IM
A

L 
H

O
SP

IT
A

L
LI

N
C

O
LN

SH
IR

E,
 IL

 6
00

69

19.MJA.001

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 S

IT
E 

PL
A

N

42
0 

H
A

LF
 D

A
Y

 R
D

.
M

G
H

 
C

o
n

s
u

l
t
i
n

g
 
E

n
g

i
n

e
e
r
s
,
 
L

L
C

L
I
C

E
N

S
E

 
N

O
.
 
1
8
4
.
0
0
7
3
9
2
-
0
0
0
2

4
0
9
 
S

.
 
H

i
g

h
l
a
n

d
 
A

v
e
.
 
A

r
l
i
n

g
t
o

n
 
H

e
i
g

h
t
s
,
 
I
L

 
6
0
0
0
5

m
h

e
r
n

a
n

d
e
z
@

m
g

h
e
n

g
i
n

e
e
r
i
n

g
.
c
o

m
 
 
P

h
o

n
e
:
 
7
7
3
.
3
1
4
.
7
8
1
9

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
 -

PH
O

TO
M

ET
R

IC

E-1
N

SITE PLAN - PHOTOMETRIC

1



PARTIAL ELECTRICAL RISER DIAGRAM

ISSUED:

LI
N

C
O

LN
SH

IR
E 

A
N

IM
A

L 
H

O
SP

IT
A

L
LI

N
C

O
LN

SH
IR

E,
 IL

 6
00

69

19.MJA.001

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 S

IT
E 

PL
A

N

42
0 

H
A

LF
 D

A
Y

 R
D

.
M

G
H

 
C

o
n

s
u

l
t
i
n

g
 
E

n
g

i
n

e
e
r
s
,
 
L

L
C

L
I
C

E
N

S
E

 
N

O
.
 
1
8
4
.
0
0
7
3
9
2
-
0
0
0
2

4
0
9
 
S

.
 
H

i
g

h
l
a
n

d
 
A

v
e
.
 
A

r
l
i
n

g
t
o

n
 
H

e
i
g

h
t
s
,
 
I
L

 
6
0
0
0
5

m
h

e
r
n

a
n

d
e
z
@

m
g

h
e
n

g
i
n

e
e
r
i
n

g
.
c
o

m
 
 
P

h
o

n
e
:
 
7
7
3
.
3
1
4
.
7
8
1
9

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
 -

EL
EC

TR
IC

A
L

E-2

N

SITE PLAN - ELECTRICAL

1



ISSUED:

LI
N

C
O

LN
SH

IR
E 

A
N

IM
A

L 
H

O
SP

IT
A

L
LI

N
C

O
LN

SH
IR

E,
 IL

 6
00

69

19.MJA.001

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 S

IT
E 

PL
A

N

42
0 

H
A

LF
 D

A
Y

 R
D

.
M

G
H

 
C

o
n

s
u

l
t
i
n

g
 
E

n
g

i
n

e
e
r
s
,
 
L

L
C

L
I
C

E
N

S
E

 
N

O
.
 
1
8
4
.
0
0
7
3
9
2
-
0
0
0
2

4
0
9
 
S

.
 
H

i
g

h
l
a
n

d
 
A

v
e
.
 
A

r
l
i
n

g
t
o

n
 
H

e
i
g

h
t
s
,
 
I
L

 
6
0
0
0
5

m
h

e
r
n

a
n

d
e
z
@

m
g

h
e
n

g
i
n

e
e
r
i
n

g
.
c
o

m
 
 
P

h
o

n
e
:
 
7
7
3
.
3
1
4
.
7
8
1
9

LI
G

H
T 

FI
X

TU
R

E
C

U
T 

SH
EE

TS

E-3

F2

F2

F2 F2

F2 F2

F1

F1



R
 
W

 
E

M
A

N
A

G
E
M

E
N

T
C

O
M

P
A

N
Y

http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf
http://www.suburbansurgical.com/userfiles/file/702488-17-BathingTables.pdf


d

ORDINANCE NO. 09-3083-06

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING A SPECIAL USE

FOR AN ANIMAL HOSPITAL IN THE SMALL SCALE OFFICE DISTRICT

(LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL)

(ORDINANCE NO. 96-1434-18)

WHEREAS, a public hearing was duly advertised on September 25, 2008, in the
Lincoinshire Review regarding the Application described herein in accordance with the
Village Code, and

WHEREAS, a public hearing (“Public Hearing”) was held by the Zoning Board
on October 14, 200$, and continued from time to time until finally adjourned on
December 9, 2008 on an application from Lincoinshire Animal Hospital Limited, (the
“Animal Hospital”), an Illinois corporation as developer of the property legally described
in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and made a part hereof by reference (the “Subject
Property”), for an amendment (“Special Use Amendment”) to Ordinance No. 96-1434-
18, which special use ordinance governs the development of the animal hospital, and is
attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit “B” (the “Rezoning and Special Use Ordinance”);
and

WHEREAS, the aforesaid public hearing was held pursuant to legal notice as
required by law and all persons desiring an opportunity to be heard were given such
opportunity at said public hearing; and

WHEREAS, the Special Use Amendment provides for a modification to the
Rezoning and Special Use Ordinance to permit an expansion of the existing building and
parking areas, and also to permit the construction of a dog run; and

WHEREAS, having made findings of fact, based on the proposed findings
submitted by the Animal Hospital dated November 4, 2008, and those statements made
during the Public Hearing, the Zoning Board recommended approval to the Village
Board of a Special Use Amendment to permit an expansion of the existing building and
parking areas, as well as construction of a dog run subject to Staffs recommendations, as
presented in Staffs memorandum dated December 5, 2008 and further subject to no more
than one dog in the dog run at any given time.

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have concluded that the Special Use
Amendment, subject to and in conformance with the terms and conditions of this
Ordinance, will be beneficial to the Village, will further the development of the Subject
Property, and will otherwise enhance and promote the general welfare of the Village and
the health, safety and welfare of the residents of the Village.

tzozulya
Text Box
DOCUMENT 3



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees
of the Village of Lincolnshire, in exercise of its home rule authority, as follows:

Section 1. Recitals. The Parties hereby confirm the truth and validity of the
representations and recitations set forth in the foregoing recitals and do further
acknowledge that they are material to this Ordinance. Such recitals are hereby
incorporated into and made a part of this Ordinance as though they were fully set forth
herein. The Parties further agree that this Ordinance shall be liberally construed so that
the purpose and intent represented by the recitals shall be accomplished to the greatest
extent permitted by law. The findings of fact adopted by the Zoning Board are hereby
incorporated and made the Village Board’s findings of fact the same as though they were
fully set forth herein.

Section 2. Amendment to Rezonin and Special Use Ordinance.

A. future References. From and after the effective date of this Ordinance,
all references in the Rezoning and Special Use Ordinance shall be deemed to mean the
Rezoning and Special Use Ordinance, as amended by this Ordinance. Except as modified
by this Ordinance, all provisions of the Rezoning and Special Use Ordinance shall remain
in full force and effect.

B. Special Use Amendment. The Rezoning and Special Use Ordinance is
hereby amended to permit the changes to Sections 3 and 4 of the Rezoning and Special
Use Ordinance described in Sections 3 and 4 below, subject to the following conditions
and restrictions:

1. Final approval of this Special Use Amendment by the Village shall be
contingent on Lake County Storm Water Management Commission’s
permit, or their waiver of said permit.

2. No extended hours of operation should be allowed after the regular
business hours (from 8 a.m. to 6 p.m. on Monday through Friday and from
8 a.m. to 12 p.m. on Saturday), except for emergency treatment of
animals.

3. Dog walking after the regular business hours should only be permitted in
the outdoor dog run from 5 p.m. to 6 p.m. on Saturday, 9 a.m. to 10 a.m.,
11 a.m. to 12 p.m. and 5 p.m. to 6 p.m. on Sunday. Dog walking shall not
be allowed anywhere else on the property.

4. No more than one dog shall be permitted to be walked by hospital Staff in
the dog run at any given time during the authorid dog walking hours.
All dogs shall be walked on a leash.

5. The rear parking lot shall be reserved only for parking by the Animal
Hospital’s employees. A sign describing such rule shall be posted adjacent
to the driveway at a location even with the front of the principal building.



6. The Animal Hospital shall provide a lockable barrier across the driveway
leading to the rear parking lot at a location even with the front of the
principal building. The lockable barrier is to be utilized at times other than
the regular business hours, as defined in Paragraph # 2 above, and its
design shall be reviewed and approved by Village Staff prior to
installation.

Section 3. Approval for Expansion of Existing Building and Parking Areas.

A. The Corporate Authorities approve the following expansion of existing
building and parking areas on the Subject Property pursuant to Section 3, Subsection 4 of
the Rezoning and Special Use Ordinance, and subject to the conditions set forth in
Section 2(3) of this Ordinance:

1. Construct a one-story addition, increasing the total size of the building
from 2,901 SF to 5,231 SF.

2. Construct a 244 SF outdoor dog run, along the west building elevation,
with a 6’ tall cedar fence of the same design as the 8’ tall screening fence
(described in Item #5 below), but without the decorative lattice element.

3. Build a 12-stall parking lot area in the rear of the property.

4. Reconfigure the front parking lot area, which will contain eight (8) regular
stalls and one (1) handicapped stall.

5. Install 8’ tall lattice style cedar fencing (denoted as Option B on the
approved plans) with landscaping (in accordance with the Landscape
Plan-Option 1) in the rear parking lot.

6. Conduct other authorized building lighting and related building and site
improvements pursuant to the approved plans attached as Exhibit “C.”

B. Section 3, Subsection 3 of the Rezoning and Special Use Ordinance is hereby
stricken.

Section 4. Improvement Plans. All plans for the improvements and operation
described in the Application shall be in general conformance with the Petitioner’s
Presentation Packets, submitted to the Village of Lincolnshire on January 21, 2009 and
February 18, 2009, which are attached hereto and made part of as Exhibit “C,” and
which include:

A. Responses to Standards for a Special Use, prepared by the Animal
Hospital, dated September 22, 2008, date stamp received January 21,
2009.



B. Site Plan and Existing Site Data Chart; Existing and Proposed Floor Plans;
Building Cross Section; Dog Run Elevations; Raised Parapet Line of Sight
Diagram and Trash Enclosure Elevations, prepared by Construction
Options and AGA Architectural Design Inc., dated October 4, 2008, date
stamp received January 21, 2009.

C. Photometrics Plan, prepared by Construction Options and AGA
Architectural Design Inc., dated October 2$, 200$, date stamp received
January 21, 2009.

D. Proposed Grading Plan, prepared by Bonestroo, last revised October 27,
2008, date stamp received January 21, 2009.

E. DemoLition and Tree Removal Plan, prepared by Bonestroo, last revised
October 27, 2008, date stamp received January 21, 2009.

F. Rooftop screening manufacturer’s cut sheets, prepared by the Animal
Hospital, not dated, date stamp received January 21, 2009.

G. Photographs of existing building elevations, signage, and proposed
materials/colors, prepared by the Lincolnshire Animal Hospital, not dated,
date stamp received January 21, 2009.

H. Screening Fence Option B (lattice style), prepared by the Animal HospitaL,
not dated, date stamp received February 18, 2009.

I. Overall Landscape Plan, prepared by Bonestroo, dated October 27, 2008,
date stamp received February 18, 2009.

J. Landscape Plan-Option 1, prepared by Bonestroo, dated and date stamp
received February 18, 2009.

K. Proposed Geometric Plan-Option 1, prepared by Bonestroo, dated and
date stamp received February 18, 2009.

L. West Elevation Berm Plan, prepared by Bonestroo, dated February 16,
2009, date stamp received February 1$, 2009.

M. Tree Visual, prepared by the Animal Hospital, not dated, date stamp
received February 18, 2009.

Section 5. Superseding Effect. The specific terms and conditions of this
Ordinance shall prevail against other existing ordinances of the Village to the extent of
any conflicts. Except for the foregoing limitation, the development of the Subject
Property remains subject to all terms and conditions of applicable Codes and Ordinances
of the Village of Lincolnshire including, without limitation, zoning ordinances, building
codes, subdivision regulations and regulations concerning the construction and design of
public improvements.

Section 6. Penalties. Any person violating the terms and conditions of this
Ordinance shall be subject to a penalty not exceeding Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00)
with each and every day that the violation of the Ordinance is allowed to remain in effect
being deemed a complete and separate offense. In addition, the appropriate authorities of
the Village may take such other action as they deem proper to enforce the terms and
conditions of this Ordinance, including, without limitation, an action in equity to compel
compliance with its terms. Any person violating the terms of this Ordinance shall be
subject, in addition to the foregoing penalties, to the payment of court costs and



1

reasonable attomeys fees. This section shall not apply to the Village of Lincolnshire, its
officials, agents, or employees.

Section 7. Enforcement. The Subject Property shall be made available for
inspection by any department of the Village at all reasonable times for compliance with
this Ordinance and any other applicable laws or regulations.

Section 8. Effective Date; Assent. This Ordinance shall be in fuLL force and
effect from and after its passage, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided
by law, provided, however, that this Ordinance shall not take effect until a true and
correct copy of this Ordinance is executed by the Animal Hospital, or such other parties
in interest as the Village may reasonably identify, consenting to and agreeing to be bound
by the terms and conditions of this Ordinance. Delivery to the Village of a copy of this
Ordinance, as so executed, shall take place not later than sixty (60) days after the passage
and approval of this Ordinance by the Corporate Authorities or within such extension of
time as may be granted by the Corporate Authorities by motion.



PASSED this 23rd day of february, 2009, by the Corporate Authorities of the
Village of Lincolnshire on a roll call vote as follows:

AYES: Brandt, McDonough, Saltiel, Wa]der, Walrath

NAYS: Servi

ABSTAIN: None

ABSENT: None

APPROVED this 23rd day of February, 2009.

Brett Blomberg, Mayor

ATTEST:

Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk



offense. In addition, the appropriate authorities of the Village may take such other action as they

deem proper to enforce the terms and conditions of this Ordinance, including, without limitation,

an action in equity to compel compliance with its terms. That any person violating the terms of

this Ordinance shall be subject. in addition to the foregoing penalties. to the payment of court

costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees.

SECTION 7: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage,

approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by Jaw. Provided, however, that this

Ordinance shall not take effect until a true and correct copy of this Ordinance is executed by the

Owners of the Subject property or such other parties in interest consenting to and agreeing to be

bound by the terms and conditions contained within this Ordinance. The conditions, terms,

restrictions, rights, benefits and privileges set forth in this Ordinance shall be binding and inure

to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors, assigns, and legal

representatives.

PASSED and APPROVED this 13th day of May, 1996.

AYES: Angonese, Blomberg, Calef, Heisler, Serauskas

NAYS: None.

ABSENT: Conatser

BARBARA LaPIANA, Mayor

ATTEST:

i60)J) OO%AAL
BARBARA MASTANDREA, Village Clerk

Datrd 0422%
96-1434.18 Page 4



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-6C: E SMALL SCALE OFFICE 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 1

TITLE: 6 

CHAPTER 6: Business Districts 

ARTICLE: C, E Small Scale Office District 

Sections: 

6-6C-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations
6-6C-2: Uses
6-6C-3: Lot Sizes
6-6C-4: Building Setbacks
6-6C-5: Building Height
6-6C-6: Floor Area Ratio (FAR)
6-6C-7: Signs
6-6C-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading
6-6C-9: Landscaping

6-6C-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations

The E District is intended to provide low density office and service uses to serve as transitional 
areas between residential areas and more intense commercial sectors of Lincolnshire. This 
district is characterized by lands developed in tranquil residential-like settings as opposed to 
more intensely developed commercial centers. 

6-6C-2: Uses

Uses permitted in the E Small Scale Office District are identified in the table below: 

Uses 

P = Permitted 

SU = Special Use 

Animal Clinic/Hospital SU 
Assembly Uses SU 
Banks and financial institutions with drive-thru facilities SU 
Banks and financial institutions, without drive-thru facilities P 
Day care centers SU 
Educational institution, private SU 
Government Buildings SU 
Hotel SU 
Memorial Assembly Facility, as regulated in Section 6-3-5 of this Title SU 
Office, business and professional P 
Physician’s office P 
Planned Unit Development (PUD), as regulated in Section 6-14-12 of this Title SU 
Recreation facility, private SU 
Any other similar use not specifically permitted in this Chapter, but which has substantially 
similar impacts on public services, traffic, parking and property values as the uses 
expressly permitted herein, is consistent with the trend in development within the District. 

P 

E
S M A L L
S C A L E

O F F I C E  

DOCUMENT 4



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-6C 
E SMALL SCALE OFFICE 

Revised 12/08/2014 Page 2

6-6C-3: Lot Sizes

Uses 

Minimum 

Lot Area 

Minimum 

Lot Width 

Permitted Uses 30,000  sq. ft. 125 ft. 
Animal clinic/hospital 30,000 sq. ft. 130 ft. 
Assembly Uses 80,000 sq. ft. 150 ft. 
Banks and financial institutions with drive-thru 
facilities 60,000 sq. ft. 150 ft. 

Private recreation facility 40,000 sq. ft. 150 ft. 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) By Village Board By Village Board 
Special Uses, all other 30,000  sq. ft. 150 ft. 

6-6C-4: Building Setbacks

Uses Front Side 

Corner 

Side Rear 

Permitted Uses 35 ft. 20 ft. 35 ft. 30 ft. 
Special Uses 35 ft. 20 ft. 35 ft. 30 ft. 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) By Village Board 

Where a side and/or rear yard abuts any residential zoning district, excluding the R5 District, a 
transitional yard measuring twice the minimum yard requirement shall be required. Landscaping 
or fence screening a minimum of seventy-five percent (75%) opacity shall be provided within 
such transitional yards. Transitional yards shall not contain any off-street parking or other 
structures, except driveways, sidewalks, and landscaping. 

6-6C-5: Building Height

A. The maximum building height shall be three and one-half (3-1/2) stories or forty two feet
(42') including rooftop equipment.

B. Assembly uses, government buildings and educational institutions may be erected to a
maximum building height of 60 feet. The minimum yard requirements of Section 6-6C-5(A)
shall be increased one (1) foot per each foot of additional building height above the limit for
this district.

6-6C-6: Floor Area Ratio (FAR)

The maximum allowable floor area ratio (FAR) shall be 0.36. 

6-6C-7: Signs

Signs shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 12 of this Code. 

6-6C-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading

Off-street parking and loading facilities shall be provided as required in Chapter 11 of this Title. 

6-6B-9: Landscaping

Landscaping shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 13 of this Code. 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-11: OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING 
Revised 12/10/2018 Page 1

TITLE 6: Zoning 
CHAPTER 11: Off-Street Parking and Loading 

Sections: 
6-11-1:  General Requirements
6-11-2:  Off-Street Parking Facilities
6-11-3: Off-Street Loading Facilities

6-11-1: General Requirements

A. General Applicability: Off-street parking and loading facilities for all existing and new
structures and uses of land within the Village of Lincolnshire shall be in accordance with the
provisions of this Chapter.

B. Increase in Intensity: Whenever the intensity of use of any structure, or premises is
increased through the addition of dwelling units, gross floor area, seating capacity, or other
units of measurement specified herein for required parking or loading facilities, parking and
loading facilities shall be required for such increases in intensity.

C. Change in Use: Whenever a use existing on the effective date of this Chapter is changed to
a new use, parking or loading facilities shall be provided as required herein for such new
use.

D. Responsibility: The duty to provide and maintain off-street parking spaces and/or loading
facilities shall be the joint and several responsibility of the operator and/or owner of the use
and/or owner of the land for which off-street parking spaces and/or loading facilities are
required to be provided and maintained hereunder.

E. Design Plan: Parking and loading facilities shall be illustrated on a site plan to be submitted
with all applications for Building Permits or Certificates of Occupancy in accordance with the
provisions of this Chapter.

F. Snow Removal: Accommodations shall be made for the storage and/or removal of snow
from all parking and loading facilities. Areas for snow storage shall be designated
reasonably close to drains or catch basins. Snow storage within landscaped areas should
be avoided to prevent damage to plant material.

6-11-2: Off-Street Parking Facilities:

A. General Requirements

1. Use: Required off-street parking facilities shall be solely for the parking of vehicles
used for the transportation of occupants, patrons, employees or materials of the uses
to which they are accessory. Each required parking space shall be kept available at all
times for parking of such vehicles. No required parking space shall be rented, leased
or used for any purpose other than that for which said space is required.

2. Access: Off-street parking facilities shall be designed and located to provide
appropriate means of vehicular access to adjacent streets or alley ways in a manner

DOCUMENT 5



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-11 
OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING 

 

  
Revised 12/10/2018 Page 2 

which will least interfere with traffic movements. Parking spaces shall open directly 
upon an aisle or driveway of such width and designed to provide safe and efficient 
means of vehicular access to such parking space at all times. 
 

3. Computation: When the number of parking spaces required herein results in a 
fractional space, any fraction shall require one (1) additional parking space. Parking 
spaces required on a square footage basis shall be based on the gross square footage 
of the structure/leasable space. Parking spaces required on an employee basis shall 
be based on the maximum number of employees on duty or residing on the premises 
at any one time. 
 

4. Shared Parking Facilities: Parking spaces required for separate structures and uses 
may be provided collectively on the same lot, provided use of such spaces shall not 
occur at the same time based on the operations of the uses they are serving. The 
minimum number of required parking spaces shall be established by the primary use 
or the highest parking generating use, whichever is more. 
 

5. Land Banking: The Zoning Administrator may authorize a reduction in the total number 
of off-street parking spaces required herein, subject to the following: 

 
a. No more than 50% of the required parking spaces shall be landbanked. 

 
b. Prior to authorization of landbanked spaces, the lot owner or tenant must 

demonstrate that required parking spaces are excessive as applied to the use of 
the zoning lot, including but not limited to employee counts, lack of public 
customers, or similar scenarios. 

 
c. Every request for landbanking of required parking spaces shall be accompanied by 

a detailed parking plan identifying the area(s) reserved for future parking and the 
landscape treatment of such open space. 

 
d. The property owner shall file with the Zoning Administrator his/her unconditional 

agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Village Attorney that the 
area(s) reserved for future parking shall be maintained as landscaped open space 
until and unless required to be used for off-street parking in compliance with this 
Chapter. Such agreement shall be recorded with the Lake County Recorder’s 
Office. 

 
e. The Zoning Administrator, in his/her sole discretion, shall have the authority to 

require the property owner or successor, at any time, to increase the number of 
parking spaces required by this Chapter. 

 
B. Location:  

 
1. All parking facilities shall be located in the same zoning lot as the structure or use to 

which they serve. Parking facilities of ten (10) or more parking spaces may be located 
on a separate lot provided said parking spaces are located within the development in 
which such parking spaces are serving.  

 
2. Parking facilities solely for employees, may be located on a separate lot provided no 

such parking spaces shall be located in excess of six hundred feet (600') measured 
along a paved pedestrian circulation route to the nearest building entrance.  



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-11
OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING

Revised 12/10/2018 Page 3

Figure 1 
Vehicle Overhang 

3. Residential zoning: Parking facilities containing three or more spaces shall not be
located in a Front, Side, or Rear Setback, as defined in Chapter 2 of this Title, except
when a garage structure is located within the Rear Setback. Surfaced driveways may
be used as parking spaces in addition to the requirements herein.

4. All Other Zoning Districts: Required parking spaces shall not be located in a Front or
Corner Side Yard, as defined in Chapter 2 of this Title, and shall be located a minimum
of twenty five (25) feet from the property line of any adjoining residential zoning district,
except as permitted in Section 6-8-11(B) of this Title.  Required parking spaces may
be located in an interior side yard or rear yard in all non-residential zoning districts,
provided in the O/I districts a fully landscaped and maintained strip of at least fifteen
feet (15') in the O/Ia and O/lb subdistricts or eight feet (8') in the O/Ic and O/Id
subdistricts is installed and maintained continuously along the perimeter of the
applicable rear and interior side yards (excluding driveway or sidewalk entrances, or
railroad track frontage).

C. Size: Every parking space shall conform to the parking dimensions identified on the Off-
street Parking Chart found at the end of this Chapter, exclusive of access drive aisles,
ramps, etc., and have a minimum vertical clearance of seven (7) feet. For parking spaces
adjacent to a curb, the parking space length shall be shortened by two (2) feet to provide
sufficient vehicle overhang (see Figure 1). For parking spaces where vehicle overhang is
adjacent to a pedestrian walkway, the walkway width shall be a minimum of seven (7) feet to
provide unobstructed pedestrian access (see Figure 1).

D. Design and Maintenance:

1. Surfacing:

a. Single-Family Residential: Off-street parking facilities accessory to single-family
residential (attached or detached) shall be paved or otherwise surfaced with an all-
weather dustless material. The portion of the driveway connecting from the curb
line to the property line shall be paved with concrete, asphaltic materials or
permanent materials, in accordance with Village Codes.



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-11 
OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING 

 

  
Revised 12/10/2018 Page 4 

b. All Other Uses: The minimum required off-street parking facilities, spaces and 
access drives shall be improved with a compacted macadam base, or equal, not 
less than six inches (6") thick, surfaced with asphaltic concrete or comparable all-
weather, dustless material. Any portion of a parking facility containing parking 
spaces in excess of 10% of the minimum number required herein shall implement 
innovative stormwater management features (commonly identified as Best 
Management Practice techniques, BMP), including but not limited to alternate 
paving surface materials, use of light colored concrete, recycled asphalt permeable 
pavement materials, bioretention areas, swales, or similar techniques approved by 
the Village of Lincolnshire; unless it can be demonstrated no further increases in 
impervious surface coverage will be produced. 
 

2. Drainage: All parking facilities shall be designed to prevent the drainage of stormwater 
onto adjoining property and to effectively manage stormwater and snowmelt on-site in 
accordance with Village Codes and the Lake County Watershed Development 
Ordinance (WDO), including the use of stormwater BMP techniques. 
 

3. Screening and Landscaping: Parking facilities shall be landscaped in accordance with 
Section 13-2-4 of Title 13.  
 

4. Illumination: Illumination of off-street parking facilities shall be in accordance with 
Section 6-3-15 of this Title. All lighting should create an identity for parking facilities 
and be appropriately designed for the location, context, and scale of the areas being 
illuminated. 
 

5. Curbing: All parking facilities, drives, access roadways, and landscape islands must be 
bordered by a six (6) inch high concrete barrier curb. Such curbing shall not be 
required if essential to the design and implementation of stormwater BMP techniques, 
as approved by the Village and Lake County Stormwater Management Commission 
(SMC). 
 

E. Parking Lot Standards: 
 

1. Parking facilities containing twenty (20) spaces or more shall have one (1) landscape 
island for every ten (10) parking spaces (see Figure 2). Landscape islands shall be a 
minimum width of nine (9) feet and a minimum length of nineteen (19) feet. 
Landscaping shall be in accordance with Section 13-2-4 of Title 13. 
 

2. Landscape islands shall be located at the end of every parking row and shall be 
landscaped in accordance with Section 13-2-4 of Title 13 (see Figure 2). 
 

3. Parking facilities containing two (2) or more parking aisles shall provide continuous 
vehicular circulation at each end of the parking aisles and shall be landscaped in 
accordance with Section 13-2-4 of Title 13 (see Figure 2). 
 

4. A minimum eight (8) foot landscaped area shall be required between all building 
façades and parking facilities, including parking spaces and circulation drives, and 
shall be landscaped in accordance with Section 13-2-4 of Title 13.  
 

5. Parking facilities containing forty (40) parking spaces or more shall have one (1) 
landscape island for every fifteen (15) parking spaces (see Figure 2). Landscape 
islands shall be a minimum width of nine (9) feet and a minimum length of nineteen 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-11
OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING

Revised 12/10/2018 Page 5

Figure 2 
Parking lot islands 

(19) feet. Landscaping shall be in accordance with Chapter 2, Landscaping, of Title 13.

 
 

F. Accessible (ADA) Parking Spaces: Off-street parking spaces required herein shall comply
with the 2010 ADA Standards for Accessible Design and Illinois Accessibility Code, except
for single-family dwellings, which shall be in accordance with the following requirements:

1. Required Accessible Spaces: ADA accessible parking spaces shall be included in the
total number of required parking spaces as required in following table:

ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACES 

Total Number of Parking Spaces 
Provided in Parking Facility 

Minimum Number of Required 
Accessible Parking Spaces 

1 to 25 1 
26 to 50 2 
51 to 75 3 
76 to 100 4 
101 to 150 5 
151 to 200 6 
201 to 300 7 
301 to 400 8 
401 to 500 9 
501 to 1,000 2% of total 

1001 and over 20, plus 1 for each 100, or fraction 
thereof, over 1,000 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-11
OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING

Revised 12/10/2018 Page 6

2. Van Parking Spaces: For every six (6) or fraction of six (6) accessible parking spaces
required by (B)(1) above, at least one (1) accessible space shall be a van parking
space.

G. Specific Requirements: Off-street parking spaces shall be provided in accordance with the
minimum requirements listed below. The format in identifying the minimum number of
required spaces is as follows:

Unspecified Use: When the use of a structure or lot is known, but not identified in the 
following parking table, the minimum number of parking spaces required shall be 
determined based on a reasonably comparable and/or similar use identified. 

S E E  O F F - S T R E E T  P A R K I N G  T A B L E  O N  N E X T  P A G E

10/1,000 {Number of spaces} {Per square footage, units, seats, etc.} 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-11
OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING

Revised 12/10/2018 Page 7

Use 
Minimum Number of 
Required Spaces 

Residential 

Single-family detached dwelling 2/dwelling 

Single-family attached dwelling, townhome 2.5/dwelling 

Single-family attached dwelling, duplex 2.5/dwelling 

Continuing care retirement campus (CCRC) 1/independent living unit + 1/employee + 4% 
of the total required parking for visitor parking 

Multi-family dwelling/condominium 1.5/efficiency studio and 1 bedroom units 
2.5/2 or more bedroom units 

Recreational 

Bowling alley 4/lane + 12/1,000 sq. ft. of lounge or dining 
area 

Golf course 80/9 holes 

Park and playground 

None for first acre. 
5/1 to 5 acres + 5 for each acre in excess of 
5 acres + 1/5 persons of design capacity of 
any structure or facility 

Forest preserve/nature preserve By Village Board 

Personal fitness/instruction studio 1/4 persons based on maximum occupancy 
+1/employee

Private or public recreation facility 
and community buildings 

1/3 persons based on maximum occupancy 
+1/employee + 1/100 sq. ft. of water surface
area for any swimming pool facilities

Assembly Uses 

Art galleries, libraries and museums 1/500 SF 

Exhibition and convention facilities 1/100 SF 

Meeting and events center 1/4 persons at max occupancy 

Private clubs, fraternal lodges 1/3 persons at maximum occupancy 

Religious institutions 1/4 seats 

Theater 1/3 seats 

O F F - S T R E E T  P A R K I N G  T A B L E  C O N T I N U E D  O N  N E X T  P A G E



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-11
OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING

Revised 12/10/2018 Page 8

Use 
Minimum Number of 
Required Spaces 

Institutional 

Child day care center 1/500 SF 

College/university or vocational, private educational 
institution, business or trade school 1/each employee + 1/3 students 

Elementary, junior high school 1/each employee 

High school 1 each employee +  
1/4 students aged 16 years or older 

Hospital 1/500 SF + 0.5/ employee 

Municipal and government buildings 1/250 SF 

Nursing/rest homes 1/1,000 SF 

Urgent medical care center/clinic 1/200 SF + 1/employee, including doctors 

Industrial 

Cargo and freight terminals 

1/250 SF of Office Space + 1/1,000 SF of 
Manufacturing Space + 1/2,000 SF of 
Warehouse Space 

Cartage and express facilities 

Laboratories or research and development facilities 

Light manufacturing, fabricating, processing, assembly, 
repairing, storing, servicing or testing of materials, 
goods or  products 

Research laboratories 

Warehouse and storage, distribution facilities 

O F F - S T R E E T  P A R K I N G  T A B L E  C O N T I N U E D  O N  N E X T  P A G E



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-11
OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING

Revised 12/10/2018 Page 9

Use 
Minimum Number of 
Required Spaces 

Commercial 

Automotive repair facility, service facility 0.5/employee + 2/service bay 

Banks and financial Institutions 1/250 SF + 2 stacking spaces/ATM + 3 
stacking spaces/drive-up service window 

Car rental facilities 1/400 SF of gross leasable area + sufficient 
parking for rental cars 

Catering establishment 

1/250 SF 
Office, business or professional 
Printing, publishing, blueprinting and photocopying 
establishments 
Radio and television stations 

Day spa 1/150 SF of gross leasable area 

Dispensary organization 1/175 SF of office space + 1/2,000 SF of 
warehouse/storage space 

Hotels 1/unit + 0.5/employee + 1/50 SF of lounge or 
dining area 

Convenience store 

1/200 SF 

Drinking establishment 
Food store, including candy/confectionery stores, dairy 
products and bakeries 
Funeral home 

General retail and service use 

Pharmacy/drug store 

Liquor sales, package goods 

Musical instrument sales and repair shop 

Motor vehicle sales 

Pet shop 

Shopping center 

Performing and visual arts studios 1/employee + 1/every 3 students 

Pet daycare, grooming and training 1/500 SF 

Physician’s office 1/employee + 2/examination room 

Restaurants (fast food with drive-thru) 
10/1,000 SF + 4 stacking spaces/drive-up 
service window + 2 stacking spaces for each 
additional ordering station  

Restaurants (fast food) 13/1,000 SF 

Restaurants (table service, convenience dining) 12/1,000 SF 

Salon (hair, nails, makeup), barber shop 1/employee + 2/chair 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-11
OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING

Revised 12/10/2018 Page 10

Tutoring centers 1/employee + 1/every 3 students 

Vehicle fueling station 1/fueling pump + 1/employee + 1/500 SF  of 
convenience store area 

E N D  O F  O F F - S T R E E T  P A R K I N G  T A B L E

Off-Street Parking Chart 

TABLE OF DIMENSIONS (IN FEET) 

S P C* D E F H J K* 

0° 
8.0 22.0 8.0 8.0 12.0 28.0 8.0 
8.0 24.0 8.0 11.0 27.0 8.0 
8.0 26.0 8.0 8.0 10.0 26.0 8.0 

30° 8.5 19.0 16.9 13.2 10.0 6.0 43.8 40.1 
9.0 19.0 17.3 13.4 9.0 6.0 43.6 39.7 

45° 

8.5 19.0 19.4 16.4 10.8 15.5 9.5 49.6 46.6 
9.0 19.0 19.8 16.6 10.0 16.0 9.0 49.6 46.4 
9.5 19.0 20.1 16.7 9.5 16.5 8.5 49.7 46.3 

10.0 19.0 20.4 16.9 9.0 17.0 8.0 49.8 46.3 

60° 

8.5 19.0 20.8 18.7 18.0 15.0 12.5 59.6 57.5 
9.0 19.0 21.0 18.8 17.0 15.0 12.0 59.0 56.8 
9.5 19.0 21.3 18.9 15.5 15.0 11.5 58.1 55.7 

10.0 19.0 21.5 19.0 14.0 15.0 11.0 57.0 54.5 

90° 

8.5 19.0 19.0 19.0 27.0 20.0 65.0 65.0 
9.0 19.0 19.0 19.0 25.0 20.0 63.0 63.0 
9.5 19.0 19.0 19.0 24.0 20.0 63.0 62.0 

10.0 19.0 19.0 19.0 23.0 20.0 61.0 61.0 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-11
OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING

Revised 12/10/2018 Page 11

Notes: 
J = C +E + C 
K = C + E + D 
*Except as shorten for 2 ft. vehicle overhang per Section 6-11-2(A)(3).



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-11
OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING

Revised 12/10/2018 Page 12

6-11-3: Off-Street Loading Facilities

A. General Requirements

1. Location: All required loading berths (docks) shall be located on the same zoning lot as
the structure or use to be served. No loading berth shall be located within twenty five
(25) feet of the nearest point of intersection of any two (2) public or private streets; nor
shall it be located in a required front or side yard.

2. Design

a. Maneuvering: All loading berths shall be designed so that all maneuvering and
standing of vehicles shall be performed on the zoning lot, except in parking lots
with a capacity of less than fifty (50) cars in the O/Ic, O/Id and M Districts.

b. Screening: All loading berths shall be fully screened from view of any public or
private street and any adjacent property zoned for residential use. Screening
materials shall consist of landscaping, walls, berms or any other permanent
material which will provide continuous screening throughout the entire year.

c. Access: All loading berths shall be accessed by appropriate means of vehicular
access to a street, alley, or circulation drives which least interferes with traffic
movements.

3. Surfacing: All open loading berths shall be improved with a compacted macadam base
not less than seven inches (7") thick, or equal, surfaced with not less than two inches
(2") of asphaltic concrete or comparable all-weather, dustless material. The use of
alternate paving surface materials, including but not limited to the use of light colored
concrete, recycled asphalt, and permeable pavements such as porous pavement and
alternate pavers is encouraged.

4. Repair and Service: Storage of any kind shall be prohibited, unless such loading berth
is located entirely within an enclosed structure. No vehicle repair work or service of
any kind shall be permitted within any loading berth.

5. Space Allocated: Space allocated to a required loading berth shall not be used to
satisfy off-street parking space requirements.

B. Specific Requirements: Off-street loading facilities shall be provided in accordance with the
following minimum requirements:

S E E  O F F - S T R E E T  L O A D I N G  T A B L E  O N  N E X T  P A G E



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-11
OFF-STREET PARKING & LOADING

Revised 12/10/2018 Page 13

Use Gross Floor Area 
(Square Feet) Number of Loading Facilities Loading 

Berth Size 

Office, business or 
professional 

Less than 10,000 1 loading/unloading area N/A 

10,001 – 100,000 1 loading berth 12’ x 55’ 

100,001 – 500,000 2 loading berths + 1 loading 
berth per each additional 
500,000 SF or fraction in 
excess of 500,000 SF 

12’ x 55’ 

Industrial and 
manufacturing 

Less than 7,000 1 loading/unloading area N/A 

7,000 – 40,000 1 loading berth 12’ x 55’ 

40,001 – 100,000 2 loading berths + 1 loading 
berth per each additional 
100,000 SF or fraction thereof 

12’ x 55’ 

Warehouse 

5,000 – 40,000 1 loading berth 12’ x 55’ 

40,000 – 100,000 2 loading berths +1 loading 
berth per each additional 
100,000 SF or fraction thereof 

12’ x 65’ 

Less than 5,000 1 loading/unloading area N/A 

Commercial 

7,000 – 20,000 1 loading berth 12’ x 30’ 

20,001 – 35,000 2 loading berths 12’ x 30’ 

35,001 – 60,000 2 loading berths 12’ x 55’ 

60,001 – 100,000 3 loading berths 12’ x 55’ 
100,001 + 3 loading berths + 1 loading 

berth per each 200,000 SF or 
fraction thereof 

12’ x 55’ 



48 Village of Lincolnshire - Comprehensive Plan

VILLAGE CORE SECTOR UPDATE2012

CH
3C

Land Use Recommendation: Planned
Commercial Development
Although this planning area is located within the
Lincolnshire Corporate Center and currently zoned
O/Ia – Office/Industrial Zoning District, the highly
visible location at the Milwaukee Avenue and Half
Day Road intersection (situated diagonally from the
Village’s Downtown Redevelopment Area) makes it
viable to support commercial land uses. The land use
classification of “Planned Commercial Development”
is recommended for this area to highlight the feasi-
bility of the highest and best land use for this critical
area. Any such commercial development must be
executed in a unified manner with unique architec-
tural character and detail to complement the
commercial character outlined for Critical Area 4.

Primary vehicular access should be limited to
Marriott Drive and align with the existing driveway
curb-cuts of Walker Bros. Original Pancake House
restaurant and the Spring Hill Suites hotel on the
south side of Marriott Drive. Limited right-in/right-
out access could be accommodated off Half Day
Road based on site design and authorization from
IDOT. Pedestrian paths should also be incorporated
along the perimeter of the planning area and incor-
porated into the development site design to provide
alternative transportation means and recreational
amenity to village residents and employees in the
nearby corporate center.

Expansion of the stormwater detention facilities may
be necessary depending on the proposed develop-
ment of the planning area and should be integrated
as an extension of the existing pond located along
Milwaukee Avenue. The existing stormwater pond
has experienced significant shoreline erosion and any
future improvements to the site should require
restoration to the banks, including the introduction
of native and aquatic vegetation. 

Critical Area 7
Critical Area 7 consists of a single parcel encompass-
ing slightly under one acre within the Village’s
corporate boundary, located at the northeast corner
of Half Day Road and Hotz Road. Single-family resi-
dential is located north and west of the area, with
the neighboring Lincolnshire Animal Hospital to the
east. The area is currently vacant and is heavily
wooded, with elements of a wetland present.
Land Use Recommendation: Professional Office
Although quite small in land area, this site has been
identified as a result of its high level of visibility with-
in the Half Day Road corridor and the sensitivity of
future land uses to the adjacent properties. The
heavily wooded nature and wetland qualities further
contribute to the difficulty of appropriate land use
development for this planning area. Residential land
use, regardless of its form, is not suitable and should
be discouraged due to the area’s Half Day Road
frontage and lack of opportunities for the incorpora-
tion of proper buffer yards as a result of the land
area’s minimal size. As a result, this area has been
placed in the “Professional Office” land use classifica-
tion to accommodate small-scale office uses
consistent with the neighboring Lincolnshire Animal
Hospital to the east. As any form of development of
this planning area will cause some impact to the sur-
rounding residences, future development should be
limited to a single-story structure, with sufficient
landscape screening along the northern boundary of
the area to provide a natural buffer to mitigate any
such impacts. Architectural design consistent with
that of the prevalent residential character surround-
ing this area is strongly encouraged to visually unify
by way of architectural elements and features, as
well as through the use of high-quality building mate-
rials. Furthermore, site design should include building
facades oriented to the Half Day Road frontage and

DOCUMENT 6

tzozulya
Highlight



rear parking areas in a manner consistent with tradi-
tional downtown development.  
Ingress and egress to the area should not be permit-
ted via Half Day Road, and should be limited to Hotz
Road. Tree preservation should be encouraged along
the northern portion of the planning area to serve as
a naturalized buffer from the adjacent single-family
residences to the north. The presence of wetlands at
the southeast corner of the area should be preserved
and restored through the incorporation of native and
aquatic vegetation. In order to minimize the loss of
trees and achieve sufficient stormwater detention as
a result of developing this area, underground
stormwater detention facilities should be considered.

49Village of Lincolnshire - Comprehensive Plan

UPDATE2012

CH
3C

VILLAGE CORE SECTOR



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 

LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE NO. _________________ 

AN ORDINANCE REZONING THE PROPERTY 

COMMONLY KNOWN AS 2 HOTZ ROAD 

(LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL) 

WHEREAS, application has been made by Lincolnshire Animal Hospital Limited, an 

Illinois corporation (the “Applicant”), for the rezoning of the property commonly known as 2 Hotz 

Road, which is legally described as set forth in Exhibit A (the “Property”), from the R1 Single-

Family Residence District to the E Small Scale Office District (“Rezoning Application”); and 

WHEREAS, the Rezoning Application is part of the construction of an expanded parking 

area for the Lincolnshire Animal Hospital, which is located at 420 Half Day Road on the lot 

adjoining the Property directly to the east; and  

WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees referred the Rezoning Application for the 

Property to the Zoning Board (“Zoning Board”) on March 11, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, following due publication of notice in the Lincolnshire Review on April 3, 

2019, and all other personal notice required by law, a public hearing concerning the Rezoning 

Application was convened and finally adjourned by the Zoning Board on April 18, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, the Zoning Board has submitted to the Mayor and Board of Trustees its 

findings of fact and recommendation related to the Rezoning Application; and 

WHEREAS, following deliberation and consideration on the evidence and testimony 

elicited during the public hearing and the findings of fact and recommendation of the Zoning 

Board, the Village Board desires to grant the Applicant’s Rezoning Application to rezone the 

Property from the R1 Single-Family Residence District to the E Small Scale Office District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, in the exercise of its home rule powers, as follows: 

Section 1. Recitals.  

A. The Corporate Authorities hereby confirm the truth and validity of the

representations and recitations set forth in the foregoing recitals and do further acknowledge that 

they are material to this Ordinance.  Such recitals are hereby incorporated into and made a part of 

this Ordinance as though they were fully set forth herein.  

DOCUMENT 7



B. The findings of the Zoning Board of the Village of Lincolnshire, attached hereto as

Exhibit B, are herein incorporated by reference as the findings of the Village Board to the same 

effect as if fully recited herein at length.  All references in the Zoning Board’s findings are made 

the references of the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire. 

Section 2. Rezoning.  The Property is hereby rezoned from the R1 Single-Family 

Residence District to the E Small Scale Office District. The Mayor and Board of Trustees hereby 

direct the Zoning Administrator to cause the official zoning map of the Village to be so amended. 

Section 3.  Consents.  By signing the acknowledgement and accepting the terms and 

conditions of this Ordinance, the Applicant knowingly and voluntarily waives, for itself and its 

successors and assigns, any and all claims against the Village, its elected and appointed officers, 

employees and agents, of whatever kind, nature and amount, resulting from the limitations on the 

development of the Property applied by this Ordinance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in 

this Ordinance shall be deemed to waive the ability for the Applicant, or its successors and assigns, 

to petition the Village, from time to time, for other and further zoning and subdivision approvals.  

Section 4. Superseding Effect.  The specific terms and conditions of this Ordinance 

shall prevail against other existing ordinances of the Village to the extent of any conflicts.  Except 

for the foregoing limitation, the development of the Property remains subject to all terms and 

conditions of Applicable Codes and Ordinances of the Village of Lincolnshire including, without 

limitation, zoning ordinances, building codes, subdivision regulations and regulations concerning 

the construction and design of public improvements. 

Section 5. Penalties.  Any person violating the terms and conditions of this Ordinance 

shall be subject to a penalty not exceeding Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) with each and every 

day that the violation of the Ordinance is allowed to remain in effect being deemed a complete and 

separate offense.  In addition, the appropriate authorities of the Village may take such other action 

as they deem proper to enforce the terms and conditions of this Ordinance, including, without 

limitation, an action in equity to compel compliance with its terms.  Any person violating the terms 

of this Ordinance shall be subject, in addition to the foregoing penalties, to the payment of court 

costs and reasonable attorneys' fees.  This section shall not apply to the Village of Lincolnshire, 

its officials, agents or employees. 

Section 6. Enforcement.  The Property shall be made available for inspection by any 

department of the Village at all reasonable times for compliance with this Ordinance and any other 

applicable laws or regulations. 

Section 7. Effective Date; Assent.    This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect 

from and after its passage, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law, 

provided, however, that the Rezoning shall not take effect until a true and correct copy of this 

Ordinance is executed by the Applicant, or such other parties in interest as the Village may 

reasonably identify, consenting to and agreeing to be bound by the terms and conditions of this 

Ordinance.  Delivery to the Village of a copy of this Ordinance, as so executed, shall take place 

not later than sixty (60) days after the passage and approval of this Ordinance by the Corporate 



Authorities or within such extension of time as may be granted by the Corporate Authorities by 

motion. 

 

PASSED this ____th day of ___________, 2019, by the Corporate Authorities of the 

Village of Lincolnshire on a roll call vote as follows: 

 

 AYES:     

 

 NAYS:      

 

 ABSTAIN:     

 

 ABSENT:    

 

 APPROVED this ____th day of ___________, 2019. 

 

 

 

      ____________________________________ 

      Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

____________________________ 

Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 

 

Published by me in pamphlet form 

this ____ day of ____________, 2019.  

 

 
ACKNOWLEDGED and ACCEPTED 

this _____ day of ___________, 2019. 
 

LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL LIMITED 

By: ________________________ 

Name: ________________________ 

Its: ________________________ 

Date of Execution:________________ 

 

 

 

 



EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 



EXHIBIT B 

FINDINGS OF FACT 



1 

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 

LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE NO. ______________ 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING AN AMENDMENT TO 

A SPECIAL USE AND GRANTING VARIATIONS FOR AN ANIMAL CLINIC 

(LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL) 

WHEREAS, Lincolnshire Animal Hospital Limited, an Illinois Corporation 

(“Applicant”), is the owner of that certain property commonly known as 420 Half Day 

Road, and legally described in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof (the 

“Subject Property”); and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 96-1434-18 (the “Special Use Ordinance”) granted a 

special use to establish and operate an animal hospital in the E Small Scale Office District 

on the Subject Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Special Use Ordinance was amended by Ordinance No. 09-3083-

06 for the purpose of permitting an expansion of the building and parking areas of the 

animal hospital, and to permit the construction of a dog run on the Subject Property; and  

WHEREAS, the Applicant has applied for a major amendment to the Special Use 

Ordinance to (1) add the property commonly known as 2 Hotz Road, which is legally 

described in Exhibit B attached hereto and made a part hereof (the “Amendment 

Property”), to the property governed by the Special Use Ordinance; and (2) construct an 

expanded parking area for the animal hospital on the Amendment Property (collectively, 

the “Special Use Amendment”); and  

WHEREAS, the Applicant has applied for variances for the location and fencing 

of the expanded parking area on the Amendment Property, including (1) a variation from 

Section 6-11-2(B)(4) of the Lincolnshire Zoning Code to locate parking spaces in the front 

and corner side yard of the Amendment Property; and (2) a variation from Section 6-15-

3(A)(1)(a)(i) to locate a yard fence in the required corner side yard setback of the 

Amendment Property (collectively, the “Variance Application”); and  

WHEREAS, the Zoning Board convened a public hearing on the Special Use 

Amendment and Variance Application on April 18, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, the aforesaid public hearing was held pursuant to legal notice, 

including publication in the Lincolnshire Review on April 3, 2019, and all persons desiring 

an opportunity to be heard were given such opportunity at said public hearing; and 

WHEREAS, the Zoning Board finds that the Special Use Amendment satisfies the 

standards to qualify for a special use permit set forth in Section 6-14-11 of the Lincolnshire 

Zoning Code, as demonstrated by the findings of fact attached hereto as part of Group 

Exhibit C; and 



2 

WHEREAS, the Zoning Board finds that the Variance Application satisfies the 

standards to qualify for variations set forth in Section 6-14-9 of the Lincolnshire Zoning 

Code, as demonstrated by the findings of fact attached hereto as part of Group Exhibit C; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Architectural Review Board (ARB) held a public meeting on 

April 23, 2019 to consider the site plans for the Special Use Amendment; and 

WHEREAS, the aforesaid public meeting was held pursuant to legal notice and all 

persons desiring an opportunity to be heard were given such opportunity at said public 

meeting; and 

WHEREAS, the Zoning Board and ARB have heretofore submitted to the Mayor 

and Board of Trustees their respective findings of fact and recommendations related to the 

applications heretofore described;  

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have concluded that the Special Use 

Amendment and Variance Application, subject to and in conformance with the terms and 

conditions of this Ordinance, will be beneficial to the Village, will further the development 

of the Subject Property and the Amendment Property and the orderly development of the 

Village, and will otherwise enhance and promote the general welfare of the Village and the 

health, safety and welfare of the residents of the Village.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees 

of the Village of Lincolnshire, in exercise of its home rule authority, as follows: 

Section 1. Recitals and Findings. 

A. The Parties hereby confirm the truth and validity of the representations and

recitations set forth in the foregoing recitals and do further acknowledge that they are 

material to this Ordinance. Such recitals are hereby incorporated into and made a part of 

this Ordinance as though they were fully set forth herein. The Parties further agree that this 

Ordinance shall be liberally construed so that the purpose and intent represented by the 

recitals shall be accomplished to the greatest extent permitted by law. 

B. The Mayor and Board of Trustees have duly considered the findings and

recommendations of the Zoning Board and ARB and hereby adopt the findings of the 

Zoning Board and recommendation of the ARB, attached hereto as Group Exhibit C, as 

the findings of the Corporate Authorities the same as though fully restated herein. All 

references and findings of the Zoning Board and ARB are hereby made the findings and 

references of the Mayor and Board of Trustees. 



3 

Section 2. Amendment to Special Use Ordinance. 

A. Future References. From and after the effective date of this Ordinance, all

references to the Special Use Ordinance shall be deemed to mean the Special Use 

Ordinance, as amended by Ordinance 09-3083-06 and this Ordinance.  Except as modified 

by this Ordinance, all current provisions of the Special Use Ordinance shall remain in full 

force and effect.  

B. Special Use Amendment. Subject to the conditions described in Section 4

below, the Special Use Ordinance is hereby amended as follows: 

1. The property to which the Special Use Ordinance applies is hereby

amended to include the Amendment Property, commonly known as 2 Hotz Road, 

and which is legally described on Exhibit B.  

2. The Applicant may construct an expanded parking area on the

Amendment Property for the animal hospital, with a total of 25 additional parking 

spaces.  

Section 3.  Variations.  Subject to the conditions described in Section 4 below, the 

Village hereby grants: (1) a variation from Section 6-11-2(B)(4) of the Lincolnshire Zoning 

Code to locate parking spaces in the front and corner side yard of the Amendment Property; 

and (2) a variation from Section 6-15-3(A)(3)(a)(i) to locate a yard fence in the required 

corner side yard setback of the Amendment Property.  

Section 4.  Conditions.  The Applicant shall construct the expanded parking area, 

fence, and related improvements in accordance with the specifications described in the 

following site plans, all of which shall be attached hereto as Exhibit D and incorporated 

as though fully set forth herein and, except as expressly modified by this Ordinance, all 

covenants, standards, requirements, designs or specifications in such exhibits shall be 

binding on the Applicant: 

A. Preliminary Improvement Plans, prepared by Spies & Associates, Inc.,

dated September 6, 2018 and November 1; and 

B. Landscape Plans, prepared by Vignocchi, dated March 18, 2019.

C. Lighting Plans, prepared by MGH Engineering, dated March 9, 2019.

D. Preliminary Floor Plan, prepared by RWE Management Company, dated August

30, 2018 

Section 5.  Superseding Effect. The specific terms and conditions of this 

Ordinance shall prevail against other existing ordinances of the Village to the extent of any 

conflicts. Except for the foregoing limitation, the development of the Subject Property and 

the Amendment Property remain subject to all terms and conditions of applicable Codes 

and Ordinances of the Village of Lincolnshire including, without limitation, zoning 



4 

ordinances, building codes, subdivision regulations and regulations concerning the 

construction and design of public improvements. 

Section 6. Penalties. Any person violating the terms and conditions of this 

Ordinance shall be subject to a penalty not exceeding Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) with 

each and every day that the violation of the Ordinance is allowed to remain in effect being 

deemed a complete and separate offense. In addition, the appropriate authorities of the 

Village may take such other action as they deem proper to enforce the terms and conditions 

of this Ordinance, including, without limitation, an action in equity to compel compliance 

with its terms. Any person violating the terms of this Ordinance shall be subject, in addition 

to the foregoing penalties, to the payment of court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees. 

This section shall not apply to the Village of Lincolnshire, its officials, agents or 

employees. 

Section 7. Enforcement. The Subject Property and the Amendment Property shall 

be made available for inspection by any department of the Village at all reasonable times 

for compliance with this Ordinance and any other applicable laws or regulations. 

Section 8. Effective Date; Assent. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect 

from and after its passage, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law, 

provided, however, that this Ordinance shall not take effect until a true and correct copy of 

this Ordinance is executed by the Applicant, or such other parties in interest as the Village 

may reasonably identify, consenting to and agreeing to be bound by the terms and 

conditions of this Ordinance. Unless the Applicant delivers to the Village a copy of this 

Ordinance, as so executed, not later than sixty (60) days after the passage and approval of 

this Ordinance by the Corporate Authorities, or within such extension of time as may be 

granted by the Corporate Authorities by motion, this Ordinance shall be null and void and 

of no further force and effect. 



5 

PASSED this ____th day of ___________, 2019, by the Corporate Authorities of 

the Village of Lincolnshire on a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES:     

NAYS:     

ABSTAIN:    

ABSENT:    

APPROVED this ____th day of ___________, 2019. 

____________________________________ 

Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

____________________________ 

Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 

Published by me in pamphlet form 

this ____ day of ____________, 2019. 

ACKNOWLEDGED and ACCEPTED 

this _____ day of ___________, 2019. 

LINCOLNSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL LIMITED 

By: ________________________ 

Name: ________________________ 

Its: ________________________ 

Date of Execution:________________ 



6 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



7 

EXHIBIT B 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE AMENDMENT PROPERTY 



8 

GROUP EXHIBIT C 

1. ZONING BOARD FINDINGS OF FACT- SUP AMENDMENT

2. ZONING BOARD FINDINGS OF FACT- VARIANCES

3. ARB FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION



9 

EXHIBIT D 

SITE PLANS 


	Submittal.pdf
	Photos & Facts Submittal - 04-05-19
	Cover Letter
	Finding of Fact Rezoning
	Zoning Variation Signed (002)
	Findings of Fact Special Use
	Combined Photos - Existing Fence
	Fence rendering
	Color rendering of proposed new fence
	Combined photos

	Drawing Submittal - 04-05-19
	5160-COVER
	Sheets and Views
	COVER


	5160-existing2
	Sheets and Views
	existing


	5160-SITE3
	Sheets and Views
	existing


	5160-GRADING4
	Sheets and Views
	existing


	5160-IMPACT5
	Sheets and Views
	existing


	5160-DEPR
	Sheets and Views
	existing


	LINCOLSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL - EXISTING CONDITIONS 3-22-19
	Sheets and Views
	EXISTING CONDITIONS


	LINCONLSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL - TREE SURVEY 3-22-19
	Sheets and Views
	24x36 Construction


	LINCOLSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL - LANDSCAPE PLAN 3-22-19
	Sheets and Views
	LANDSCAPE PLAN


	LINCOLSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL - DETAIL SHEET 3-22-19
	Sheets and Views
	DETAIL SHEET


	LINCOLSHIRE ANIMAL HOSPITAL - COLOR RENDERING 3-22-19
	Sheets and Views
	COLOR RENDERING


	E-0
	Sheets and Views
	E-0


	E-1
	Sheets and Views
	E-1


	E-2
	Sheets and Views
	E-2


	E-3
	Sheets and Views
	E-3


	2018-0119_Lincolnshire_Preliminary_2018-08-30.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	A-1.0




	Reduced_09-3083-06_Amend_Spl_Use_Animal_Hosp_Sml_Scale_Office_Dist_L'Shire_Animal_Hosp - Copy.pdf
	09-3083-06
	09-3083-06A


	Button1: 


